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VISION, MISSION and VALUES

VISION
• We are a Board that is transparent,
and responsive to the needs of the
sheriffs’ profession.
• We promote a professional sheriffs
service that is respectful and
efficient, to deliver justice to all with
integrity and accountability.
• We are accountable in terms of
our legislative mandate and strive
to entrench the human rights culture
envisaged by the Constitution.

MISSION
• We will provide a professional and
credible service to all our clients and
other stakeholders.
• We will develop skilled,
knowledgeable and motivated staff.
• We will develop a unified and
committed Board with focused
leadership.
• We will conduct all activities and
execute our mandate in a manner
that is accountable to the public and
to Government.
• We will enhance the image and
goodwill of the sheriffs’ profession.
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VALUE
Accountability

Efficiency

We will ensure that the members and
officials of the Board carry out their
responsibilities conscientiously and with
integrity.

We are committed to managing the
resources of the Board efficiently
and effectively, and will take steps
to eliminate all wasteful and fruitless
expenditure.

Integrity
We will uphold the ethical and moral
principles embodied in the Codes and
Policies of the Board and the Constitution
of South Africa, acting always with
honesty, fairness and consistency.

Professionalism
We are committed to serving our
stakeholders with courtesy, to the best
of our abilities and with dedication, to the
highest standards of service excellence.

Transparency
We will ensure that all our practices are
open to internal and external scrutiny.

Respect
We value and respect the views of all our
stakeholders and will treat everyone with
dignity and consideration.

Equity
We are committed to employment equity
in the recruitment of staff, and opposed
to all forms of unfair discrimination in our
relationships with all stakeholders and
the public.

CORE BUSINESS

CORE BUSINESS
The core business of the South African
Board for Sheriffs is:
• To transform the sheriffs’ profession,
and the South African Board for
Sheriffs and its staff, and to bring it
in line with Constitutional imperatives.
• To review all relevant legislation,
among others the Sheriffs’ Act 90 of
1986, and if necessary lobby for
reform in a manner that protects the
interests of the sheriffs’ profession
and all stakeholders.
• To communicate effectively with all
stakeholders and sheriffs.

Accountability
• Integrity
• Professionalism
• Transparency
• Efficiency
• Respect
• Equity
•

• To discipline sheriffs.
• To monitor the conduct of sheriffs.
• To promote professionalism.
• To set standards for training people
who are or intend participating in the
sheriffs’ profession.
• To set up necessary training
programmes.
• To formulate policy directives.
• To ensure effective management of
the Board and its Office.
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GOVERNANCE and
ORGANISATION

The South African Board for Sheriffs (the
Board) is a regulatory statutory body
established by the Minister in terms
of Section 7 of the Sheriffs’ Act No 90
of 1986, and it has as its objectives
the maintenance of the esteem of, the
enhancement of the status of, and the
improvement of the standard of training
of and functions performed by sheriffs.
This annual report is the first reflecting
the activities of the new Board that
was appointed on 1 March 2012 by the
Minister of Justice and Constitutional
Development. Great emphasis has been
placed on ensuring that governance
practices are adhered to in an open and
transparent manner, and this remains an
important tenet of this Board.
The organisational development review
has been instrumental in understanding
how the capacity and structure of the
South African Board for Sheriffs – from
both a Board and Office of the Board
perspective – should be better aligned to
meet and deal with the challenges of the
sheriffs’ profession.
An important outcome of the
organisational development review
was the establishment of a threeyear strategic plan that will guide
the activities of the Board during
its term. With financial stability as
its cornerstone, this plan will be the
framework on which the work of the
Board and Office will be hung, to at
least the end of February 2015.
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Fundamental to the Board and its
operations is adherence to the Sheriffs’
Act 90 of 1986 and all its Regulations.
The Board has completed a full and
comprehensive compliance review, and
it is clear that the organisation is 90%
compliant with the Act. The Board has
committed itself to undertaking this
review again in 2014 to ensure 100%
compliance by the end of its term.
The Board has committed itself to the full
implementation of Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice (GRAP), in line with
the public sector, by ensuring that it
accounts on an accrual as opposed to a
cash basis. The implementation of GRAP
requires a much more rigorous accounting
structure, as well as full disclosure in
the annual financial statements. We
believe that the implementation of GRAP
will allow for greater accountability in
full compliance with good financial
governance.
A comprehensive review of all policies
is also part of the Board’s commitment
to good governance. In this regard, the
Procurement Policy, Fraud Policy and
Compliance Policy are in the drafting
process.

Great emphasis has been placed on
ensuring that governance practices
are adhered to in an open and
transparent manner

BOARD MEMBER PROFILES
Charmaine Mabuza – Chairperson
Charmaine was one of the first black woman sheriffs when appointed to the Nelspruit High Court
more than 10 years ago. She has subsequently also been appointed as sheriff to the Lower Court.
She was initially appointed to the South African Board for Sheriffs in 2006 and for a second term in
2009, when she served as Deputy Chairperson. The challenges experienced along the way have
prepared her well for her role as Chairperson, as she brings a unique insight to her role. Charmaine
has championed the financial stability of sheriffs and the Office as key elements and this, together with
the transformation of the sheriffs’ profession, remains an objective. She sees the appointment of 124
new sheriffs during this Board’s tenure as a glowing success, and one they would like to build on.

Hlako Choma – Deputy Chairperson
Hlako brings many years of distinguished service to his role as Board member. As a law lecturer,
commissioner of the Small Claims Court and long-term advocate, he feels that a minimum entry
qualification for sheriffs would go a long way to raising the service bar in the profession. To this end,
he sees the Sheriffs’ Handbook being an indispensible tool. Hlako is pleased with the enthusiastic
role played by the Board in fulfilling its statutory mandate in a transparent manner.

Laura Best
Laura has diverse experience in public management spanning advocacy, policy support, capacity
building and research. She has a solid grounding in social justice and, from her work in the highereducation sector, an understanding of the human resources needs of the country. She sees a
capacitated, cohesive and justice-oriented sheriffs’ profession as an absolute must. The challenge
is how best to achieve this public-service focus while maintaining a modern business approach to
the profession.

Annual Report 2012-2013

7

BOARD MEMBER PROFILES

Abel Mawela
Abel brings a unique perspective to the financial controls and governance of the organisation. He’s
proud of the clean audit status achieved so far and views this seriously – the Board does, after all,
serve as a public institution and is accountable to all South Africans. Abel views sheriffs’ income
streams as under threat and feels more needs to be done to increase tariffs and identify new
sources of income if offices are to be sustainable in the long term. He also feels that international
best practice should be researched to find better ways of sheriffing in South Africa.

Freda Moeletsi
Freda is a serving sheriff. Her legal background, coupled with public finance and management
experience, enables her to assist with the Board’s finance and human resources policies and
work. She believes strongly in transformation in the profession, more specifically from a gender
perspective. An ongoing goal of Freda’s is improving the relationship between sheriffs and the
various stakeholders they serve.

Hishaam Mohamed
Hishaam is the Provincial Head of the Department of Justice and Constitutional Development:
Western Cape. He holds B.Luris and LLB degrees, has a Masters in Public Administration, and
completed a Senior Executive Management Course through Harvard University. He was admitted
as an advocate in the Western Cape High Court in 1995. He represents Government on a number
of national regulatory bodies, forums and task teams, such as the South African Liquor Board,
Electoral Court, Justice, Crime Prevention and Security Cluster Committee (JCPS), National Child
Maintenance Task Team and National Task Team on the Transformation of the Judicial System. He is
a founding member and Chairperson of the Southern Suburbs Legal Advice Centre (a registered and
operating Trust) and is the recipient of numerous community and public awards. Adv Mohamed’s
extensive public-sector senior management and quasi-judicial experience of over 20 years has
stood him in good stead in enhancing access to justice and human rights advocacy.

Humphrey Ntsikeni
As a practising sheriff, Humphrey is keenly aware of the challenges facing fellow professionals in the
workplace, and it’s this experience he brings to the table. He’s confident that the new Office structure
will result in more efficient operation and quicker resolution of complaints. Training and assistance in
the operation of sheriffs’ offices are areas he would like to see focused on during his term.
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BOARD MEMBER PROFILES

Nicholas Nxumalo
As a practising sheriff and member of the Standing Disciplinary Committee, Nicholas is only too
aware of the need for the profession to adhere to the rule of law. He sees training as the cornerstone
of ensuring that sheriffs understand their obligations, to enable them to carry out their responsibilities
without themselves becoming the subject of legal action. While significant progress has been made,
Nicholas views transformation as an ongoing process.

Petro Roodt
Petro has been involved with the sheriffs’ profession since 1992 and brings considerable experience
to her role as Board member. Of particular interest to her has been the handover process from
outgoing to incoming sheriff, an event that should take place with unhindered service quality
throughout. Petro views the plight of rural sheriffs with particular concern; challenges of viability are
very real to this segment of the profession. An achievement she’s proud of is the clearing of the
backlog of claims against the Fidelity Fund. With this done, new claims can be dealt with timeously
and individuals who have suffered from poor service promptly compensated.

Thaka Seboka
As a practising sheriff, Thaka brings a real perspective to his dealings as a Board member. He’s
legally qualified, has worked at a high level as a civil servant, and has business experience. He
views good governance and fiduciary accountability as non-negotiables, and rates the South
African Board for Sheriffs tops in this regard. Thaka feels that significant progress has been made
in several areas, including the appointment of new sheriffs and the realignment of sheriffs’ areas.
However, he sees the modernisation of the profession as a high priority, particularly in the face of
increasing demands from sheriffs’ clients.

Thami Tembe
As a practising attorney and a user of sheriffs’ services, Thami is fully aware of the role sheriffs play
and the need for them in the justice system. He feels this brings a practical understanding to his
work as a Board member, so that changes proposed are not only within law but also contribute to
the improvement of the profession. At the same time, he encourages sheriffs to constantly upskill
themselves by taking advantage of the training offered by the Board, as this will enable them to
provide a better service to all the people they serve. And, at the end of the day, it’s about serving
all South Africans, regardless of where they live or their social standing.
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BOARD MEMBER PROFILES

Executive Committee

Fidelity Fund Committee

Chairperson: C Mabuza
Members:
H Choma (Deputy Chairperson), A Mawela,
P Roodt, T Tembe, T Seboka, L Best

Chairperson: P Roodt
Members:
H Mohamed, A Mawela

Training and Communication Committee
Legal and Liaison Committee

Chairperson: L Best
Members:
H Choma, H Ntsikeni

Chairperson: T Seboka
Members:
H Mohamed, T Tembe

Finance and Human Resources Committee
Standing Disciplinary Committee

Chairperson: A Mawela
Members:
F Moeletsi, T Seboka

Chairperson: T Tembe
Members:

P Roodt, N Nxumalo

Board members’ remuneration and meeting attendance
Board

Exec

L&L T&C

C Mabuza

10

2

H Choma

8

1

L Best

5

A Mawela

8

F Moeletsi

8

H Ntsikeni

8

N Nxumalo

7

P Roodt

8

2

1

T Seboka

8

1

2

T Tembe

7

2

H Mohamed*

7

2

F&
HR

Cons
Forum

SDC

FF

2
4

3

3
3

Telecon

1

5

2

2

6
3
2

2

Other

Remuneration

12

R113 351

4

8

R65 807

3

1

R24 288

4

6

R81 694

2

4

R57 062

3

6

R56 180

5

1

1

10

R63 543

1

3

4

2

14

R90 507

6

1

3

6

R77 853

6

3

6

R54 536

1

n/a
R684 821

* Advocate H Mohamed is the Regional Head of the Department of Justice and Constitutional Development (DoJCD)
in the Western Cape and as a Government employee is not eligible to claim meeting allowances.
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Organisational structure of the Office of the Board

The Board’s day-to-day functions are carried out by a dedicated team of professionals under the guidance of an Executive Manager.
The Office of the Board operates as four Divisions, each with a clear line of authority and reporting. They in turn service the Board members,
who have established five Committees to carry out their functions.

Office Organogram
February 2013
EXECUTIVE MANAGER
H. Kagee

PERSONAL ASSISTANT
S. Jones

STRATEGIC SUPPORT OFFICER
S. Mbanzi

GENERAL MANAGER:
Legal Complaints
L. Mtunzi

GENERAL MANAGER:
Corporate & Financial Services
A. Simon

ADMINISTRATION ASSISTANT
A. Tshabalala

MANAGER: Investigations
M. Maseko

LEGAL CASE OFFICER
A. Tshotyana

INVESTIGATION
OFFICER: Legal
Vacant

ADMINISTRATION ASSISTANT
E. Khope

MANAGER: Support & Development
V. Nel

INVESTIGATION
OFFICER: Audit
S. Kopman

TRAINING OFFICER:
Vacant

MANAGER: Human Resources,
Compliance & Administration
B. Luthuli

COMMUNICATIONS
OFFICER
N. Vuba

FINANCE OFFICER:
C. Fortuin

GENERAL CLERK
S. Toerien
LEGAL
ADMINISTRATOR
B. Goniwe

LEGAL
ADMINISTRATOR
T. Scheepers

GENERAL CLERK
M. Dikgacwi

ADMINISTRATION
ASSISTANT
Z. Abrahams

BOOK KEEPER
Y. Olivier

ASSISTANT
BOOKKEEPER
Vacant

GENERAL CLERK
E. Miller
RECORDS
MANAGEMENT CLERK
N. Silo
RECEPTIONIST
F. Mohammed
GENERAL ASSISTANT
G. Ngquba
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CHARMAINE MABUZA

Chairperson of the SA Board for Sheriffs

The 2012/13 financial year has been
one of the most exciting for the
sheriffs’ profession since the advent of
democracy in 1994. March 2012 marked
the beginning of a new three-year term
for the current crop of Board members,
and I’m extremely grateful for the positive
and enthusiastic manner in which they’ve
embraced their responsibilities so far.

Appointment of new
sheriffs
Without doubt, the highlight has been
the appointment of 124 new sheriffs.
After a seven-year hiatus during which
no appointments were made, the
announcement by the Minister of Justice
and Constitutional Development was
welcomed across the legal fraternity.
There were several remarkable highlights
that distinguished this group of appointees:
• They were the first group selected by
Provincial Advisory Committees. The
move to a province-wide committee
is a positive step to ensure a more
uniform approach to the selection
of candidates. These committees
comprised five people, headed by
Chief Magistrate, and included a
serving sheriff who was not a Board
member or from the province
concerned, and other representatives
from the Law Society of South Africa
(LSSA).
• This was the first group to
simultaneously undertake the
Sheriffs’ Introductory Course at five
venues across the country. This  
course, registered with the South
African Qualifications Authority and
aligned to NQF Level 4, is a
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ground-breaking development for the
profession, as it will see new sheriffs
gaining both theoretical and practical
knowledge before they assume office.
• This was the first group to benefit
from a formal three-month handover
period from the incumbent. Not only
is the handover a legal requirement,
particularly with respect to
trust funds, but the process of
familiarisation has proven extremely
valuable for newcomers to hit the
ground running and provide a quality
service to all stakeholders from day one.
• The Board trained 56 mentors who
were available to ensure that newly
appointed sheriffs would have all the
support and guidance they needed
early on.
• This was the first group to have made
a meaningful contribution to changing
the demographics of a profession that
has long been dominated by white
males – just over 50% were African
and slightly more than 30% were
women. At last we’re seeing the
change that the Board has been
championing for many years.
On behalf of the Board and the entire
legal community, we wish these new
appointees our very best for a long and
rewarding career, and urge them to provide
a valuable and dignified contribution to the
communities they serve.
There are still a number of vacant positions
and we are confident that these posts will
be filled during the 2013/14 financial year.

Strategic review of
the Board
Another of the key projects undertaken
during the year was a complete strategic
review of not only the Board and its goals but
also of the Office and its structure, objectives
and measurement. The outcomes of this
process were an updated Vision, Mission
and Values, and a comprehensive three-year
strategic plan. Many of the elements were
implemented from 1 March 2013 (the new
financial year) and early indications are that
the changes are having a positive impact
on service delivery to our stakeholders. We
must never lose sight of the fact that we’re
an intermediary in the civil justice process,
and we must serve the legal fraternity as well
as the broader community promptly and
with equity and dignity.
As a Board we identified six focus areas.

1. Financial sustainability
We’re committed to ensuring the viability
and sustainability of the Board. This can only
happen if we ensure that sheriffs deal with
their financial affairs in a diligent manner and
can meet their obligations to the Board.
Part of this process of ensuring compliance
is to carry out investigations of sheriffs,
and we intend to increase the number of
investigations conducted each year. We
were one short of our goal of 24 for this year
but have set a goal of 36 and 48 respectively
for the coming two years.
In year three of this Board’s term we intend
to have 100% compliance in the collection
of levies.

CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT
We’re closely entwined with many aspects of the
Department’s work and they’re a constant source of
advice, inspiration and energy.

We intend to ensure the continued stellar
financial performance of the Fidelity
Fund, without sacrificing the quality of the
investments that it enters into.

2. Enhancing the sheriffs’
profession
We’re extremely proud of the capabilities
and hard work undertaken by the Board
and the various Divisions within the Office.
This is a significant contributor to the
upskilling of sheriffs throughout the country
and is a role we see continuing in the years
ahead. The lifting of the moratorium on
the appointment of new sheriffs has seen
a significant jump in demand for quality
services from the Office and they will be
tested again with a second tranche of
appointments.
We’re investigating a number of programmes to enhance the profession in
terms of Section 16 of the Sheriffs’ Act.
Among these are the possibilities of a
provident fund and/or medical aid scheme.
The sheriffs’ voluntary associations play an
important role, and the Board continues to
use the Consultative Forum as an effective
tool to communicate and generate broad
consultation with the profession.

3. Improving the viability
of sheriffs’ offices
There are huge disparities in the viability
of sheriffs’ offices around South Africa,
and we see the demarcation process as
a contributor to resolving this challenge.
This entails joining several areas together
where they are not viable on their own, and
splitting other areas that have the ability
to sustain more than one sheriff. This is a
sensitive process but we are aware of the

challenges and have already done much
work in this regard. This is a joint DoJCD
and Board project.
We’re also investigating other functions
that sheriffs may be able to undertake that
are in a similar vein to those for which they
are already responsible.

4. Participating in the Civil
Justice Review Project
The sheriff is the only person who can give
effect to a court order for the execution of
property, whether moveable or immovable.
Therefore, as an active participant in the
justice process, it’s important that our
policies and procedures fit with the aims
of the Civil Justice Review Project (CJRP).
The CJRP has among its aims the objective
of improving access to and affordability
of the justice system, particularly for
vulnerable and poor members of our
society. We have several Board members
directly involved in this process and wish
them well in their deliberations.

5. Creating a dashboard
tool to monitor the Board’s
effectiveness
The Board has a duty to perform and
deliver to all the profession’s stakeholders
– every one of South Africa’s more than
50 million inhabitants is a potential client.
While the day-to-day activities are the
responsibility of the Office of the Board,
the final responsibility rests with the Board.
We intend to have in place a dashboard
that effectively monitors all our key
deliverables so that remedial action can
quickly be taken when performance does
not fit with agreed-on parameters.

6. Reviewing governance,
staff and professional
policies, codes and
procedures
A large part of the Board’s responsibility
is minimising risk. To this end, policies
and procedures must be analysed to
ensure they comply with those affecting
our activities. The two King Reports, our
Fidelity Fund investment strategy and
disciplinary procedures are but a few of
the matters considered under this goal.
The needs of our own staff must also
be met, and we’re aware of our role in
ensuring a fair and equitable working
environment for the team responsible for
carrying out the work of the Board.

Subcommittees
The Board has restructured its regulatory
functions into five subcommittees.
1. Legal and Liaison Committee
2. Standing Disciplinary Committee
3. Fidelity Fund Committee
4. Training and Communications
Committee
5. Finance and Human
Resources Committee
I’m comfortable with the work being
carried out by these committees and that
their aggregate role effectively regulates
the activities of the sheriffs’ profession in
meeting our legislative obligations to all
stakeholders. Comprehensive feedback
from each of the committees is included
later in this report.

Annual Report 2012-2013
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CHAIRPERSON’S REPORT continued

New Executive
Manager
Another part of the strategic review was the
reorganisation of the Board’s Office functions,
starting with the appointment of a new
Executive Manager. We welcome Hoosain
Kagee, an experienced management
consultant, to this position and wish him
well in his endeavours in the years ahead.
The post is an onerous one with numerous
challenges but we’re confident that he’s up
to the task.
Effective 1 March 2013, and following
extensive review, the Office of the Board
was restructured to comprise three divisions
reporting to the Executive Manager. This
new structure fits neatly with our committee
structure and also serves the needs of
sheriffs in the field and the legal community.
The Office is there to serve all stakeholders,
and anyone experiencing sheriff-related
difficulties is encouraged to contact them for
assistance.

Revamped website
Another point of contact for anyone looking
for information or assistance is the recently
revamped website. There’s a wide range
of interesting and valuable information on
the site and, judging by the traffic statistics,
this is endorsed by the number of visitors
who’re making use of this facility.
In our quest for transparency and
accountability, the website is a useful tool
for members of the public, attorneys and
sheriffs. For members of the public it is
an avenue to gain greater insight into the
profession, and for attorneys it is a way
to identify who the correct sheriff is for a
certain jurisdiction.
For sheriffs, the auction facility is a
significant development. This useful tool
will help sheriffs promote sales in execution
in their areas in an extremely cost-effective
manner, while at the same time promoting
transparency.

Legislative review
Legislative review is an important part
of the Board’s work, and three pieces of
legislation required our attention in the
past year. The Sheriffs’ Amendment Act
has been approved by Parliament and
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Cabinet, and is now with the President
for proclamation into Law. This is an
important update to the Sheriffs’ Act of
1986 and brings greater oversight of the
profession to the Board.
The Board has submitted proposed
changes to the Rules Board for Courts
of Law regarding Rule 46 and Form 21,
articles that govern sales in execution
of immovable property. The Rules do
not reflect currently accepted business
practices, and our proposal will see the
amendments reflect the reality of sheriffs’
working environments.
As mentioned, the CJRP is another
programme where the Board is an active
participant. This is covered in greater detail
in the Legal and Liaison Committee report.

Stakeholder
engagement
Stakeholder engagement is a critical part of
the Board’s work, and I’m pleased to report
that we have been active on this front.
The Consultative Forum, comprising
representatives from both voluntary
sheriffs’
organisations
and
Board
members, has met regularly to discuss
issues of relevance to the profession. We
see this continuing into the future and,
as a Board, we’re investigating whether
we can provide any further assistance to
make the organisations more effective.
We continue to engage on a regular basis
with the Banking Forum. A large part of
sheriffs’ work requires interaction with
banks and other financial institutions, and it
makes sense that we foster a cooperative
and engaging environment between the
profession and the Forum.
We are working closely with the Law
Society of South Africa (LSSA), which is the
professional organisation representing the
affairs of attorneys. This closer relationship
will enable both groups to better
understand the challenges faced by the
other in the execution of their respective
duties and client responsibilities.
The Board has been engaging with the
Chief Master of the High Court on a number
of matters relating to the Insolvency Act
and the role of the sheriff, with particular

reference to Section 19 of the Act. It is
common practice for both public entities
and private organisations to outsource
certain functions that in the past were
the sole domain of the sheriff in respect
of serving and execution. This has come
at a great loss to the sheriffs’ profession.
In our discussions with sheriffs, it has
become evident that certain sections of
the Insolvency Act are not being adhered
to and sheriffs are losing out in terms
of Section 19 of the Act. It has become
common practice that the judgement
creditor, liquidator and auction houses
bypass the requirements of Section 19 by
outsourcing certain functions but not to
sheriffs. It has been resolved that it would
be prudent to broaden the discussions
and include the LSSA to assist with
addressing the concerns of sheriffs.

A busy year ahead
The past year has been a busy one
and, with promise of a number of new
appointments in 2013, we do not anticipate
the workload diminishing. As a Board, we
rely on a number of parties to execute our
responsibilities effectively. It’s difficult to
mention each of these by name but we
must acknowledge the input, assistance
and guidance of the Department of Justice
and Constitutional Development. We’re
closely entwined with many aspects of the
Department’s work and they’re a constant
source of advice, inspiration and energy.
Special mention must go to the offices of
the Minister and Deputy Minister of Justice
and Constitutional Development. Their
unwavering support and cooperation help
us immeasurably in the work we do and we
are extremely grateful for that facility.
The Office of the Board has really stepped
up to their task this year. The new structure,
extra personnel and improved systems are
delivering a more efficient service to our
stakeholders and we thank the staff for
their commitment.
Finally, to the sheriffs, thank you for your
contribution to the betterment of the
profession over the past year. This Board
exists to assist you in the execution of your
duties, and your involvement and active
participation is what we need to make the
profession even better for all.

EXECUTIVE
MANAGER’S REPORT

The financial year under review has
been a busy one, with several important
developments affecting the profession, the
Office of the Board and the Board itself.
The appointment of a Board to serve a
new three-year term is always a significant
occasion, and this group of individuals,
representing various aspects of justice and
civil society, have embarked with gusto on
their duties as outlined in the Sheriffs’ Act.

Changes improve
service delivery
Service delivery is a priority, and it was
clear that there were areas of the Office’s
functioning that were not up to the required
standard.
My appointment as Executive Manager
came after a period of flux in the
organisation following the premature
resignation of the previous Executive
Manager. During the year there have been
several appointments which have now
bolstered the internal capacity of the Office
of the Board.
The Board’s decision to embark on
a
comprehensive
organisational
development review led not only to
clarification of their three-year strategic
objectives but also to a realignment of the
Office to meet those goals. The committee
structure of the Board was adjusted to
reflect their updated objectives, and the
Office structure has also been realigned to
effectively work within these requirements.
The new Office structure was implemented
from the beginning of the new financial
year – 1 March 2013 – and early indications
are that service delivery is improving all the
time.

New appointments
test the system
The appointment of 124 new sheriffs
during the year was a momentous
occasion, and one that is sure to set the
profession on a new road of transformation
and accountability to the people they
serve. From the Office’s perspective, I
was extremely pleased with the manner in
which the training and handover processes
were conducted. While much of the
preparatory work had been done in terms
of the Sheriffs’ Introductory Course, it was
still a significant logistical achievement to
have the programme simultaneously roll
out in five centres around the country. Well
done to all those involved.

Divisional reports
Prior to the revised structure, the Office
operated five Divisions in order to meet its
mandated obligations.
• The Human Resources, Finance
and Information Technology
Division ensured that the legal
requirements of the organisation were
met and that financial controls were
in place. This was in addition to
dealing with internal HR matters,
such as hiring, measuring
performance, remuneration and
the like.
Recruiting and retaining suitably
qualified personnel is an ongoing
challenge for this organisation. Much
of the work is of a highly specialised
nature and requires people with the
relevant skills. Competing in the
open market against high-spending
corporates makes the task of

recruitment especially challenging but I
believe we’ve made significant
progress in hiring several people with
the abilities to take the Office forward.
The Office has been waiting on
Treasury for direction on whether the
organisation is governed by the Public
Finance Management Act (PFMA)
or not. But in the interim we have
moved to the Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice (GRAP) method
as our accounting model. This is the
method endorsed by Government,
and the greater compliance required
by this system is fully reflected in the
2012/13 annual financial statements.
• The Fidelity Fund Division has seen
a steep growth in cash reserves over
the past few years. This has come
from increased contributions by
sheriffs. It’s vitally important that we
continue to grow this fund, and a
revised investment strategy was
adopted during the year to assist in
this goal.
• The Legal and Compliance Division
was tasked with ensuring sheriffs are
compliant with the myriad legislation
and regulations that affect their work.
The responsibility for administration of
ad-hoc appointments also fell under
this department, as did resolving
complaints received concerning
sheriffs’ alleged misconduct. Clear
objectives have been established for
this department.
• The Investigations Division played
an increasingly important role in
acting against non-compliant sheriffs.
In addition to acting on complaints,
this division played a proactive role in
initiating investigations.
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The increased number of sheriffs in the field, together with the prospect
of more to be appointed, is good news for the profession. This brings
additional work to the Office but I believe we’re in a better position
than ever to serve all our stakeholders with dignity.
• The Training and Communications
Division had its work cut out for
it this year, coordinating the training
needs of the new appointments
as well as completing needs-based
training programmes from last year.
This division has performed well
and plays an important role in
building capacity of sheriffs within the
profession, a cornerstone of the
Board’s mandate.

Stakeholder
engagement
The Office is responsible for maintaining
and growing relationships with a wide
variety of stakeholders affecting and
impacting on the sheriffs’ profession. The
Law Society of South Africa (LSSA) is one
such party, and the rapport between the
two is on a sound footing.
A vast amount of sheriffs’ work involves
financial institutions, and the Banking
Forum is the platform where the industry
and the profession come together. It’s
pleasing to recognise that the Banking
Forum and the sheriffs’ profession have
jointly submitted proposals to the Rules
Board regarding sales in execution, a clear
indication of their mutual cooperation.
The Department of Justice and
Constitutional Development (DoJCD),
and the office of the Minister and Deputy
Minister, are critical partners for the
sheriffs’ profession. It’s pleasing to record
that relationships between the Office and
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these entities are in fine shape, and we
appreciate the assistance and guidance
in the execution of our duties that they
provide.
A key project of the DoJCD is the Civil
Justice Review Project (CJRP). This
project will have a profound effect not
only on the justice system as a whole, if
all the aims and objectives are achieved,
but particularly on the sheriffs’ profession.
We’re extremely keen to contribute at
every level of this important project.

Looking ahead
The Office has had an eventful year,
with several significant milestones. The
increased number of sheriffs in the field,
together with the prospect of more to
be appointed, is good news for the
profession. This brings additional work
to the Office but I believe we’re in a
better position than ever to serve all our
stakeholders with dignity. We’ve added
some great people to our team and we
have a streamlined structure in place to
make things work better.
I’d like to thank every staff member within
the Office for their contribution over the
past year, and encourage them to reach
even greater heights in the year ahead.

Hoosain Kagee
Executive Manager
August 2013

FIDELITY FUND
COMMITTEE

The Fidelity Fund Committee is now in its
second year of operation and is tasked
with various duties, chief of which are:
• Conducting a governance review of
the Fund, and implementing and 		
improving operational systems.
• Attending to all outstanding claims
against the Fund.
• Strengthening the people capacity of
the Division.
• Reviewing the investment portfolio to
ensure maximum growth while 		
ensuring compliance with Section 15
of the Sheriffs’ Act.
• Updating the website with
information regarding the Fidelity
Fund and how to institute a claim 		
against it.
The Fidelity Fund was established in terms
of Section 26 of the Sheriffs’ Act, and its
primary function is to be used as a source
of revenue to compensate those who
have suffered any prejudice as a result of
misconduct or omissions by a sheriff. The
monies accrued in the Fund are housed
in various investments, and the capital is
guaranteed, with interest reinvested in the
Fund.

Fidelity Fund
Certificate: key to
operating as a sheriff
Sheriffs have to comply with various
legal obligations in order to receive a
Fidelity Fund Certificate, without which
they cannot operate. It is pleasing to
note that only one sheriff failed to comply
with this requirement during the period
under review. The offender, T Butler, was
fined R10 000. A number of sheriffs were
issued with provisional certificates in order
to enable them to meet their various
obligations. These expired in June 2013
and further action will be taken if the
conditions have not been met.
As the graph below indicates, the
Fidelity Fund has enjoyed tremendous
growth in recent times and now stands
in excess of R110 million. This is due
largely to increased income from the legal
obligations of sheriffs.

that the liquidity of the Fund is at a ratio
that allows the Board to meet any liability
it could face. Fidelity Funds are only
invested in South African-based financial
institutions. The Fidelity Fund is compliant
with the Financial Intelligence Centre Act
38 of 2001, otherwise known as FICA.

This is a positive
picture and one that
makes us confident
the Fund will be in
a strong position to
deal with any claims
that may arise in the
future.

The Board has recently adopted a revised
investment strategy. This strategy is
premised on the need to ensure that the
Board’s investments are protected and

Five-year Performance History of the Fidelity Fund
R120 000 000.00
R100 000 000.00
R80 000 000.00
R60 000 000.00

Funds

R40 000 000.00
R20 000 000.00
R0.00

26 Feb 2009

28 Feb 2010

28 Feb 2011

28 Feb 2012

28 Feb 2013
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FIDELITY FUND COMMITTEE continued

Claims against the Fidelity Fund
Claims against the Fidelity Fund Paid by the Board
1 March 2012 - 28 February 2013
Date of Payment

Ledger
account

Payee

Activity

Amount

05/03/2012

Bondholder: NC
& VM Davids

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacobs - Mitchells Plain)
Standard Bank/NC & VM Davids Case No: 19308/09

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

69,236.58

05/03/2012

Bondholder: PK
& MW Madikwa

Claim against the F Fund: Matter (S
Yon - Khayelitsha) Standard Bank/
PK & MW Madikwa - Case No:
19308/09

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

109,603.33

05/03/2012

Bondholder: SH
Ketye

Claim against the F Fund: Matter (S
Yon - Khayelitsha) Standard Bank/
SH Ketye - Case No: 13604/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

65,902.96

05/03/2012

Bondholder: NY
Mehlo

Claim against the F Fund: Matter (S
Yon - Khayelitsha) ABSA Bank/NY
Mehlo - Case No: 9702/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

20,987.52

05/03/2012

Bondholder: H
Matshobane

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(Late L Nienaber - Nigel) ABSA
Bank/H Matshobane - Case No:
1924/03

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

80,000.00

05/03/2012

Bondholder: H
Mbshe

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(Late L Nienaber - Nigel) ABSA
Bank/H Matshobane - Case No:
1770/03

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

98,000.00

05/03/2012

Bondholder: L
Ntshontsho

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(S Yon - Khayelitsha) Standard
Bank/L Ntshontsho - Case No:
19618/09

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

30,000.00

09/03/2012

Bondholder: ZP
Msebenzi

Claim against the F Fund: Matter (S
Yon - Khayelitsha) Standard Bank/
ZP Msebenzi- Case No: 6805/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

137,658.74

09/03/2012

Bondholder: FR
April

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacobs - Mitchells Plain)
ABSA Bank/FR April - Case No:
14214/10

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

15,710.00

30/3/2012

J Badenhorst:
KJ Kruger

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(Late: L Nienaber - Nigel) L
Badenhorst & Associates - Case
No: 10855/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

137,920.44

Expenditure
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Ledger
account

Date of Payment

Payee

Activity

Amount

20/04/2012

Fourie, Basson
& Veldtman

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(M A Jacobs - Mitchells Plain
North) First Rand Bank/M & NM
Ngacu - Case No: 17066/2010

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

22,650.00

11/05/2012

Bondholder: N
Ntsaluba

Claim against the F Fund: Matter (S
Yon -Khayelitsha) Standard Bank/N
Ntsaluba - Case No: 19807/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

48,215.34

11/05/2012

Bondholder: TL
& K Ntonintshi

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(S Yon - Khayelitsha) Standard
Bank/TL & K Ntonintshi - Case No:
2576/09

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

4,703.67

11/05/2012

Bondholder: SS
Nyembe

Claim against the F Fund: Matter (S
Yon - Khayelitsha) Standard Bank/
SS Nyembe - Case No: 3567/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

42,319.58

11/05/2012

Bondholder: C
Cwaba & ME
Nkomombini

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(S Yon - Khayelitsha) Standard
Bank/C Cwaba & ME Nkomombini
- Case No: 6368/09

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

68,223.13

11/05/2012

Bondholder: M
Ariefdien

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(J Coetzee - Maitland) Firstrand
Bank/M Ariefdien - Case No:
10656/09

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

16,800.00

11/05/2012

Hickman van
Eeden Phillips
Trust obo Media
24 t/a The
Burger

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(J Coetzee - Maitland) ABSA Bank/
Media 24 LTD t/a The Burger / Y
Pandit Maitland/Gas : Case No
32554/09

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

1,734.00

11/05/2012

Petzer Du Toit &
Ramulifho Trust
obo I & A Majiet

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacob - Mitchells Plain North)
FNB/I & A Majiet - Case No:
453/10

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

16,000.00

26/09/2012

Ex Sheriff - D
Marks Erf 219

Ex Sheriff - D Marks Erf 219

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

37,031.00

26/09/2012

Ex Sheriff - GA
Marks Erf 218

Ex Sheriff - GA Marks Erf 218

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

37,031.00

26/09/2012

HD Osman/ S
Solomons

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacobs - Mitchells Plain)
Capitec Bank - Case No: C 708/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

11,800.00

26/09/2012

HD Osman/ S
Solomons

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacobs - Mitchells Plain)
Capitec Bank- Case No: C 708/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

1,200.00

26/09/2012

HD Osman/ S
Solomons

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacobs - Mitchells Plain)
Capitec Bank- Case No: C 708/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

3,400.00

26/09/2012

HD Osman/ S
Solomons

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacobs - Mitchells Plain)
Capitec Bank- Case No: C 708/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

9,200.00
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Date of Payment

Payee

Activity

Ledger
account

26/09/2012

HD Osman/ S
Solomons

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacobs - Mitchells Plain)
Capitec Bank- Case No: C 708/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

11,600.00

26/09/2012

HD Osman/ S
Solomons

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacobs - Mitchells Plain)
Capitec Bank- Case No: C 708/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

10,200.00

26/09/2012

HD Osman/ S
Solomons

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacobs - Mitchells Plain)
Capitec Bank- Case No: C 708/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

2,800.00

26/09/2012

HD Osman/ S
Solomons

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacobs - Mitchells Plain)
Capitec Bank- Case No: C 708/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

2,800.00

26/09/2012

HD Osman/ S
Solomons

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacobs - Mitchells Plain)
Capitec Bank- Case No: C 708/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

12,000.00

26/09/2012

HD Osman/ S
Solomons

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacobs - Mitchells Plain)
Capitec Bank- Case No: C 708/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

11,800.00

08/10/2012

HD Osman/ S
Solomons

Claim against the F Fund: Matter
(MA Jacobs - Mitchells Plain)
Capitec Bank- Case No: C 708/08

Acc Rec FF:
Fidelity Fund
claims

6,000.00

Total
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Amount

1,142,527.29

LEGAL AND LIAISON
COMMITTEE

This Committee is tasked with considering
all legal matters affecting the Board and the
sheriffs’ profession. This includes providing
advice and appropriate action on any legal
issue facing the Board; providing guidance
on the process of investigating allegations
of improper conduct against sheriffs;
providing advice on the re-demarcation of
magisterial districts, defining boundaries
and possible combining of offices; and
liaison with all stakeholders including the
Consultative Forum.
The Committee has been mandated to
draft a Service Level Agreement between
the Board and sheriffs. This process will
also produce a revised Code of Conduct
and Service Charter applicable to the
sheriffs’ profession.

The appointment of 124 new sheriffs has
had a marked impact on the demographics
of the profession. As can be seen from the
tables below, the number of black sheriffs
and women has increased significantly. In
the period ending February 2013, women
made up 21% of all sheriffs (up 5% from
the previous period) and white sheriffs
had dropped to comprise 56% of the total
(down from 71%).

We are confident that more
progress will be made regarding
transformation of the profession with
future appointments anticipated for
the 2013/14 financial year.

Gender and race demographics of sheriffs as at 28 February 2013
Gender
Gauteng

Race

Total

Male

Female

White

African

Indian

Coloured

39

26

13

22

8

7

2

10

KZN

38

28

10

14

14

Mpumalanga

28

24

4

18

10

Limpopo

23

21

2

9

14

Free State

29

26

3

21

7

1

North West

23

17

6

14

8

1

Eastern Cape

48

36

12

18

27

3

Northern Cape

22

18

4

19

1

2

Western Cape

47

38

9

30

4

2

11

Total 2013

297

234

63

165

92

20

20

Total 2012

234

197

37

167

44

12

11

% increase

27%

19%

70%

-1%

109%

67%

82%
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Gender and race of deputy sheriffs as at 28 February 2013
Gender

Race

Total

Male

Female

White

African

Indian

Coloured

Gauteng

197

168

29

138

38

3

18

KZN

99

92

7

32

38

28

1

Mpumalanga

58

46

12

34

24

Limpopo

42

35

7

28

14

Free State

44

38

6

30

14

North West

62

58

4

37

25

Eastern Cape

103

78

25

49

38

Northern Cape

24

18

6

22

Western Cape

157

145

12

96

3

Total 2013

786

678

108

466

194

16
2
58
31

95

Total 2012

221

179

42

146

49

9

17

% increase

256%

279%

157%

219%

296%

244%

459%

Permanent, acting and ad-hoc sheriffs as at 28 February 2013
Permanent

Acting

Ad-hoc

Total sheriffs per province

Gauteng

41

15

3

59

KZN

50

22

1

73

Mpumalanga

45

13

Limpopo

35

19

7

61

Free State

34

34

11

79

North West

30

17

2

49

Eastern Cape

57

32

6

95

Northern Cape

22

17

3

42

Western Cape

48

30

3

81

Total 2013

362

199

36

597

Total 2012

186

97

61

344

% increase

95%

105%

-41%

74%

58

It is a positive result of the increase in sheriffs’ posts filled that there has been a corresponding decline in the number of ad-hoc
appointments (41%).
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The Civil Justice
Review Project:
a landmark
undertaking

While a member of the Board is required
to serve on the Service and Execution
of Process Committee, it goes without
saying that the Board supports the
entire initiative and will provide input and
expertise wherever possible.

place new responsibilities on the Minister,
the DoJCD, the South African Board for
Sheriffs and the Rules Board for Courts
of Law to ensure the maintenance of
effective and reliable sheriff services to the
courts and public.

The Civil Justice Review Project (CJRP)
is an initiative of the Minister of Justice
and Constitutional Development, and is
endorsed by Cabinet. It has two core
objectives:

Sheriffs’ Act to be
amended

Changes proposed
to sales in execution
rules

• To align the civil justice system with
Constitutional imperatives by providing
for an accessible, efficient, speedy,
simple, cost-effective and affordable
resolution to civil disputes; and
• To ensure the simplification and
harmonisation of laws and rules
to make justice easily and equally
accessible to all, in particular
vulnerable and poor members
of society.
To give effect to the above goals, the
CJRP will include (but not be limited to) the
following aspects in its work:
• To investigate legislative reform to
align the civil justice system with the
Constitution.
• To review the effectiveness of the
courts, their jurisdiction and capacity
to deal with civil disputes.
• To assess the impact of costs
associated with litigation and the
role of Legal Aid South Africa in civil
adjudication.
• To consider the institutionalisation of
alternative dispute-resolution
mechanisms, both domestic and
international.
• To modernise information technology
initiatives such as electronic filing of
court documents and electronic
service of court processes.
• To implement an effective and
judiciary-led case management system
to ensure that matters are processed
swiftly through the system.
• To review the role of sheriffs and other
law-enforcement agencies responsible
for the service and execution of court
orders.
• To harmonise and simplify the rules
of the Superior and Lower Courts to
ensure easy and equitable access to
justice for all citizens.

The Sheriffs’ Act came into being in 1990
and provides for the appointment of
sheriffs, the establishment of a governing
Board, the establishment of a Fidelity
Fund, regulation of sheriffs’ conduct, and
all matters connected with the profession.
However, with time it has become apparent
that several areas of the regulations require
enhancement to adequately deal with the
practical administration of justice.
The Sheriffs’ Amendment Act No 14 of
2012 was tabled in Parliament at the end
of January 2012, approved by Cabinet in
November 2012 and assented to by the
President in December 2012. It’s due to
come into effect on a date to be determined
by the President by proclamation in the
Gazette.
Key outcomes of the amendment are:
• To establish Advisory Committees to
help with the appointment of sheriffs.
• To regulate the appointment of acting
sheriffs.
• To empower the Minister to appoint
sheriffs and acting sheriffs in areas
where no appointments have been
made.
• To regulate allowances paid to
members of the South African Board
for Sheriffs.
• To provide for the restructuring of
the Board and the appointment of an
interim Board.
• To regulate the use of the Fidelity
Fund.
• To regulate the auditing of records and
financial statements of the Fidelity Fund.
• To regulate improper conduct by
sheriffs.
This new legislation is to be welcomed
as it will regularise what is occurring in
practice in respect of the appointment
of sheriffs and the management of the
sheriffs’ profession. The amendments also

A sheriff is an impartial, independent officer
of the Court, appointed by the Minister of
Justice, and must execute all sentences,
decrees, writs, summonses, rules, orders,
warrants, commands and processes of
the Court directed to him or her. At the
same time, the sheriff must scrutinise
each document, no matter from where it
emanates, to ensure that it adheres to and
complies with the Law and the realisation
of the Bill of Rights embodied in the
Constitution of the Republic of South Africa.
The rules governing sales in execution of
immovable property are prescribed in Rule
46 of the Uniform Rules of Court and require
the Conditions of Sale to be prepared by
the execution creditor in accordance with
Form 21 of the First Schedule. However,
the clauses contained in the present Form
21 are old and have fallen behind current
economic
parameters,
present-day
business practices and new legislation.
In settling the Conditions of Sale, the
cumbersome and inhibiting factors under
which sheriffs have to operate in terms of
Rule 46 and Form 21 have exposed them
to severe criticism and often compromised
their position as an executive of the Law.
If sheriffs cling to the narrow interpretation
of the prescriptions of Form 21, they are
accused of being obstinate; if they allow
any deviation in the Conditions of Sale,
however, they are exposed to risks and, in
some instances, legal costs that may have
an impact on the sheriffs’ Fidelity Fund.
After due consultation with a host of role
players, the Board has proposed changes
to Rule 46 and Form 21 to ensure that
the judicial process of execution is carried
out in accordance with current legislation
and business practices, and with minimal
risk to sheriffs, purchasers, execution
creditors and execution debtors.
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These proposals have been submitted to
the Rules Board for consideration and we
await their response.

Consultative Forum
in place
The Consultative Forum comprises
representatives from the Board and the two
sheriffs’ organisations, the South African
National Association of Progressive Sheriffs
and the South African Sheriffs’ Association.
Its business is to discuss and debate
issues affecting the sheriffs’ profession.
This can include legislative and policy
issues proposed by the Board, the two
sheriffs’ organisations or any other affected
party. Once debated and with resolutions
reached, these can be forwarded to the
Board for consideration. Thaka Seboka was
Chairperson of this Forum for the year under
review and the group met on two occasions.

The following topics led the discussions:
• Provisions in the soon-to-beimplemented Sheriffs’ Amendment
Act covering the role of the
Provincial Advisory Committee in the
appointing of new sheriffs, the
process of appointing acting sheriffs
and the need for proper audits of
sheriffs’ trust accounts.
• Engagement with the Rules Board for
Courts of Law concerning Conditions
of Sale, procedural matters in relation
to sales in execution, and the serving
of documents, issues that will also be
part of the CJRP’s work.
• The Law Society of South Africa
(LSSA) plays an important role in the
oversight and professional affairs of
attorneys and it make sense that
the sheriffs’ profession also engage
and work more closely with this
organisation.

• Discussions with the Banking Forum
and jointly submitted proposals to the
Rules Board for Courts of Law
regarding Conditions of Sale at
auctions.
• Contributions to the preparation of
the new Sheriffs’ Handbook.
• Discussions with the South African
Revenue Service regarding the need
for sheriffs to apply for and obtain tax
clearance certificates. This
will improve transparency and
accountability in the supply chain.
• The lifting of the moratorium and
subsequent appointment of 124 new
sheriffs.
Discussion is vibrant and the platform is
working well as a way for the profession
to engage with the Board and other
stakeholders on a wide variety of matters.

Discussion is vibrant and the platform is working well as a way for
the profession to engage with the Board and other stakeholders
on a wide variety of matters.
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STANDING DISCIPLINARY
COMMITTEE

The Standing Disciplinary Committee
(SDC) is now in its second year of
operation. Its primary functions are to
deal with complaints from the public
concerning sheriff misconduct, to resolve
complaints of a less serious nature, to
oversee formal disciplinary hearings, and
to monitor sheriffs’ compliance with their
legal obligations. The SDC has achieved
considerable success in dealing with the
complaint backlog and with the timeous
handling of new complaints.

The process starts
with clarification
Once a complaint is received, it is
registered on the administration system.
The sheriff concerned is notified of the
complaint and has 14 days to respond.
Once this response is received, the matter
is analysed and further information from
either the sheriff or the complainant or both
is requested if required. Corrective action
to be taken by the sheriff is suggested.
The sheriff’s response is transmitted to
the complainant and if acceptable the
matter is resolved. If no response from
either party is received within 21 days, a

reminder is sent. If no response is received
from the sheriff after a further seven
days, the matter is referred to the SDC
for further action. The intention is that as
many complaints as possible are resolved
through this conciliatory approach.

2009 have indicated a marked decline in
the total number, and, equally important,
less time is being taken to reach a
suitable resolution. The Eastern Cape and
Limpopo remain the source of the most
complaints.

Should a sheriff incur three fines in a
year, corrective action is taken. If the
transgressions are performance related,
the sheriff can be placed on the Uhuru
or mentorship programme, both of which
are conducted by the Training Division.
Should the sheriff still be in contravention,
the matter will be referred for a formal
disciplinary hearing.

During the period under review, 106
complaints were registered on the system.
This compares favourably with the 162
received in the preceding year – which
was down from 189 in the year before.
The reduction in number, appointment of a
dedicated person to deal with complaints,
and improvements in the automated
administration system have contributed to
this improved state of affairs.

Complaints are
reducing
Broadly speaking, there are three types
of complaints: the sheriff failed to tender
a return of service, the sheriff failed to
execute or serve the process, and queries
involving trust funds.

A total of 249 complaints (some carried
over from the previous year) were resolved
in the period under review, as the table
below details.

The good news is that the number of
complaints against sheriffs is reducing.
Analysis of complaints received since

Complaints resolved
Reason for closure

Number

No transgression found

69

No further interest from the complainant

58

Matter resolved satisfactorily

75

Matter is out of the Board’s mandate

47

Total cases resolved

249
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A total of 13 sheriffs (see table below) were fined for transgressions under the SDC. This is up from five in the previous reporting period and
is due largely to the more effective functioning of this committee since its initial establishment in April 2011 and subsequent thoroughness
of investigations.

Sheriffs fined from SDC procedures
Sheriff & area

Charge

Fine

N Sibula – Mthata Lower
Court

1. Failed to tender return of service in prescribed manner
2. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
3. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence

R1 500

T Butler –
Thabazimbi Higher and
Lower Court

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to execute court process without delay

R6 500

1. Failed to execute court process without delay
2. Failed to respond to execution creditors
3. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
N Maqokolo –
Ngqeleni Higher and
Lower Court

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to execute court process without delay

R5 000

BP Makhanye –
Mankwe Higher and
Lower Court

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to execute court process without delay

R13 500

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to pay over trust monies in respect of a Sale in
Execution
CB Koti – Mqanduli
Higher and Lower Court

1.
2.
3.
4.

Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
Failed to execute court process without delay
Failed to carry out lawful instructions

R5 000

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to execute court process without delay
HM Mduzulwana –
Qumbu Higher and
Lower Court

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to carry out lawful instruction

R1 500

LJ Letsoalo –
Mankweng Lower Court

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to carry out lawful instruction

R1 500

SJ Kgosana –
Thabamoopo Higher
and Lower Court

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to carry out lawful instructions without avoidable delay

R3 000

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
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Sheriff & area

Charge

Fine

TC Siebert –
Halfway House Higher
and Lower Court

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence.
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to tender a return of service

R6 000

NN Ntsibantu –
Cofimvaba Higher and
Lower Court

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to tender a return of service

R4 000

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to carry out lawful instructions
VW Mashalaba –
Tsolo Higher and Lower
Court

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to execute court process without delay

R3 000

TC Letlabika –
Sterkspruit Higher and
Lower Court

1.
2.
3.
4.

R10 000

Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
Failed to execute a court process without delay
Failed to tender a return of service

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to execute court process without delay
1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to execute court process without delay
AM Makwetu Lady Frere Higher and
Lower Court

1. Failed to execute court process without delay
2. Failed to respond to execution creditor’s correspondence
3. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence

R7 800

1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to tender a return of service
1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to tender a return of service
1. Failed to respond to Board’s correspondence
2. Failed to respond to instructing attorney’s correspondence
3. Failed to tender a return of service
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STANDING DISCIPLINARY COMMITTEE continued

Formal disciplinary hearing is the next step
Those matters that are considered to be of a more serious nature are subject to a formal disciplinary hearing. An important refinement to
the formal disciplinary process is the appointment of an independent chairperson to all hearings, this being a qualified legal person who is
not a member of the serving Board.

The following sheriffs have been subject to a formal disciplinary hearing.
Sheriff

Allegations

Verdict

JNR MacLachlan –
Western Cape

1.

Delayed paying over trust money

Sheriff found guilty and fined R5 000. Sheriff
has appealed and a decision is pending.

M Mukwevho –
Limpopo

1.
2.

Delayed executing processes
Mismanaged trust funds

Sheriff entered acknowledgement of guilt
and fined R18 000. Sheriff required to pay
over monies that were subject of complaint.

P Sedile –
Gauteng

1.
2.

Delayed execution process
Failed to keep proper records in terms
of Regulation 10(5)

Sheriff found not guilty.

SJ Duminy –
Western Cape

1.
2.

Delayed execution of processes
Failed to attach and remove additional
assets belonging to the judgement
debtor

Sheriff paid admission of guilt of R5 000.

CB Koti –
Eastern Cape

1.

Delayed service and/or execution of
processes
Operated without an office

Sheriff entered admission of guilt and fined
R7 000.
Sheriff entered admission of guilt and fined
R8 000.

3.

Failed to pay legal obligations
Operated without a Fidelity Fund
Certificate
Operated without an office

1.
2.

Failed to keep proper records
Mismanaged trust funds

Sheriff cannot be traced.

2.
N Maqokolo –
Eastern Cape

S Yon –
Western Cape

1.
2.

Laying of criminal charges
In terms of Section 23 of the Sheriffs’ Act, sheriffs are mandated to operate two separate bank accounts. The first is to receive money for
fees charged related to their services rendered as a sheriff (commonly known as the business account); the second is for the depositing
of trust monies received from debtors and the proceeds of goods or properties that have been attached and sold in sale of executions or
auctions (commonly known as the trust account).
A trust account cannot be used for the day-to-day transactions of the sheriff’s business and should never run into a deficit. Violations in
this regard are cause for criminal charges to be laid.

Criminal charges have been laid against the following sheriffs.
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Sheriff

Area

Case number

M Jacobs

Mitchell’s Plain

1945/03/2011

S Yon

Khayelitsha

394/12/2011

J Coetzee

Maitland

83/12/2011

AG Alberts

Riversdale

96/12/2011

TG Mogane

Kempton Park

57/11/2011
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The SDC has achieved considerable success in dealing with
the complaint backlog and with the timeous handling of new
complaints.
While the Board in general, and the
Investigations Division in particular, enjoys
good relations with all law-enforcement
agencies, it can be seen from the case
number references that these matters
have been in the justice pipeline for some
time. For various reasons there have been
numerous delays, and in order to try and
speed up matters, the Board has resolved
to meet with the Head of the Commercial
Crimes Unit within the South African Police
Service to try and reach an understanding
on how to expedite these cases.

Investigations are a
core responsibility
The Investigations Division, reporting via
the SDC, was established to improve
the Board’s regulatory capabilities. It
is tasked with conducting inspections
and investigations to combat fraud,
misrepresentations, misappropriation of
funds, and non-compliance with the laws,
policies and procedures governing the
sheriffs’ profession.
With this mandate, the Investigations
Division guards the image of the profession
and, most importantly, the interests of the
public, providing independent, objective
and discreet assurances designed to add
value and improve the Board’s operations.
It helps achieve its objectives by bringing
a systematic, disciplined approach to
evaluate and improve the effectiveness of
risk management, control and governance
processes.
During the year under review, a total of
23 investigations were undertaken in the
following provinces:
•
•
•
•
•
•

Gauteng
Eastern Cape
Limpopo
North West
KwaZulu-Natal
Mpumalanga

7
8
4
1
2
1

Of the 23 investigations conducted, eight
were proactive, instigated within the
Division’s mandate; nine were referred by
the Board to the SDC; and six followed
complaints.

appointments that took place during
the year under review, it is pleasing to
report that all legal challenges have been
addressed to the satisfaction of the
entire profession.

In addition, the SDC conducted a
desktop audit of all active sheriffs. This
resulted in 16 offices undergoing a fullscale investigation. Reports have been
submitted to the SDC for further action.

The Board attended handover processes
in Gauteng, Western Cape, Free State
and Northern Cape.

Residue and/or
unclaimed trust
monies under review
The residue and/or unclaimed monies are
the balances in hand after the sheriff has
satisfied all claims of the execution creditor
and all warrants of execution lodged on
or before the day immediately preceding
the date of the sale. These monies legally
belong to the execution debtor but remain
in the custody of the sheriff’s trust account
if the execution debtor cannot be found.
Sheriffs declare these monies, together
with their financial legal obligations, on
31 July of each financial year, in terms of
Sections 19 and 23 of the Sheriffs’ Act.
The Board is developing a position paper
on the matter of residue and/or unclaimed
trust monies. Once completed, they will
engage with the DoJCD.

Board members
not immune to the
disciplinary process
A policy has been formulated to deal
with complaints received concerning
Board members, in particular those who
are serving sheriffs. This is in line with
practice of good governance as outlined
by the King II and King III reports.
The policy provides a framework to
classify complaints received into several
categories, from a non-transgression
to transgressions of a serious nature,
and to deal with them in an expeditious
and impartial manner. Complaints of a
less formal nature are dealt with by the
SDC, while more serious complaints are
referred to a formal disciplinary hearing
in accordance with Section 49 of the
Sheriffs’ Act.

Appointment of new
sheriffs
In terms of Regulation 10 of the Sheriffs’
Act, there is a specific procedure that must
take place when a new sheriff is appointed.
The handover process between the
incumbent and outgoing sheriff must
be facilitated by the court manager with
powers delegated by the Director General.
In the past, this regulation was often
not complied with due to various legal
challenges. However, regarding the 124
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TRAINING and
COMMUNICATIONS COMMITTEE

The work carried out by the Training and
Communications Committee (TCC) is
often seen as the public’s window into the
activities and responsibilities of the Board.
For this reason, this function carries
significant responsibility.

and orientation programme benchmarked
to NQF Level 4 and registered with the
South African Qualifications Authority.
This is arguably the single most significant
benchmark achieved by the Board since
democracy in 1994.

The TCC is responsible for:

The Sheriffs’ Introductory Course is
supported by six Unit Standards comprising
45 credits each equal to 10 notional hours.
This means that candidates undertaking
the course must complete 450 hours in the
form of classroom sessions, mentorship/
practical training sessions and self-study.
The process includes compilation of a
Portfolio of Evidence which, along with
regular assessments, interviews and a
closed-book test, completes the evaluation
process.

• The development and implementation
of a training strategy for the sheriffs’
profession.
• Ensuring that the training strategy,
materials and methods used are
evaluated in order to ensure
improved service delivery and
transformation of the profession.
• A strategy that is sustainable and can
be institutionalised in the long term.
• A chairperson or elected member
who represents the South Africa
Board for Sheriffs at the South
African Safety and Security SETA
(SASSETA).
• Electing members to SASSETA or
other industry-related organisations
who are able to execute the
functions and roles assigned
to them.
• A communications programme that
ensures all stakeholders are aware
of the role of the sheriff, along with
their individual and collective rights
and responsibilities.

Sheriffs’ Introductory
Course establishes a
new benchmark
The lifting of the moratorium and the
appointment of 124 new sheriffs in August
2012 was an unprecedented occasion in
the modern history of sheriffing in South
Africa. Not only was this group the most
culturally diverse ever appointed as sheriffs
in the country, they were the first group
to undergo a properly constituted training
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Training for the first batch of 94 newly
appointed sheriffs began simultaneously
on 5 November at five locations around
the country. The two weeks of classroom
sessions were conducted in Cape Town,
East London, Bloemfontein, Durban and
Pretoria.
Pretoria was host to a launch function
attended by several representatives from
the Justice Cluster and Board, and included
a keynote address by the Deputy Minister
of Justice and Constitutional Development
Andries Nel. Deputy Minister Nel
emphasised the important role sheriffs have

as the only person who can give effect to
a court order for the execution of property,
whether moveable or immoveable. He also
asked that sheriffs execute their duties
mindful of and sensitive to the environment;
with respect, dignity, compassion and
diligence; and without favour.
Candidates attended a further practical
session at the end of January 2013, during
which they underwent mentoring at various
sheriffs’ offices around the country; and a
final week of learning and assessments was
carried out in mid-March. The outcomes of
this process will be available shortly.
The Board is grateful for the role played
by SASSETA, which included R2.8 million
in funding for the project. This contribution
was sufficient to cover all training costs
associated with this ground-breaking
programme.
Planning and preparation for a project
of this size was extensive, and we’re
appreciative of the input and participation
of several other stakeholders, including
the Board, individual sheriffs, the
African Training Academy and School of
Auctioneering, the DoJCD and the Justice
College. The Justice College is the training
arm of the DoJCD and has extensive
experience in servicing all arms of the legal
fraternity.

The lifting of the moratorium and the
appointment of 124 new sheriffs in
August 2012 was an unprecedented
occasion in the modern history of
sheriffing in South Africa.

Sheriffs’ Introductory Course by venue
PROVINCE

CITY

GAUTENG, LIMPOPO,
MPUMALANGA & NORTH WEST

RACE

GENDER

TOTAL

B

C

I

W

M

F

PRETORIA

21

2

0

5

15

13

28

WESTERN CAPE & NORTHERN CAPE

CAPE TOWN

4

6

1

7

14

4

18

FREE STATE

BLOEMFONTEIN

6

3

1

1

10

1

11

EASTERN CAPE

EAST LONDON

12

3

0

3

13

5

18

KWAZULU-NATAL

DURBAN

15

1

3

0

15

4

19
94

TOTAL

Some of the 124 sheriffs appointed during
the year were exempt from attending the
Sheriffs’ Introductory Course, as they had
attended a previous course or completed
the Learnership qualification. In addition,
sheriffs with more than five years of
experience and a record of good standing
with the Board were exempt from the
course.

Smooth Handover
The smooth and efficient handover from
outgoing to incoming sheriff is a process
that is regulated in terms of the Sheriffs’
Act. It is pleasing to note that with 124
offices changing hands, although the
potential for problems was high, the
process was seamless and well organised
thanks to the properly structured threemonth programme.

When a sheriff vacates his or her office,
all processes and other documents in his
or her possession must be taken into the
possession of the Director-General and
delivered to the sheriff’s successor, who
will then become responsible for those
affairs. However, the transfer cannot take
place until the successor has been issued
with a Fidelity Fund Certificate and he or
she has paid his or her contributions in
terms of the Sheriffs’ Act.

Needs-based training
is client driven
Another important leg of the annual training
effort is the needs-based programme.
These courses are provided after due
consideration and consultation with sheriffs
in the field, and vary from year to year,
depending on the current challenges faced.

The programme this year was a carryover
from the previous financial period, with the
last workshop completed in Bloemfontein
in mid-March. A total of 476 delegates
participated in programmes in all nine
provinces.

Auctioneering course
follow-up challenges
The auctioneering programme undertaken
to much acclaim in the last financial year
has encountered problems. Delegates
have been slow in submitting their Portfolio
of Evidence for certification purposes, and
this has in turn delayed the Board’s ability
to claim the tuition fees from SASSETA.

PROVINCE

CITY

DATE

Eastern Cape

Mthatha

28 & 29 Oct 2011

37

Port Elizabeth

11 & 12 Nov 2011

52

Free State

Bloemfontein

16 & 17 Mar 2012

19

Gauteng

Fourways

24 & 25 Feb 2012

72

KwaZulu-Natal

Durban

16 & 17 Sept 2011

68

Richards Bay

27 & 28 Jan 2012

15

Limpopo

Polokwane

4 & 5 Nov 2011

32

Mpumalanga

Middelburg

30 Sep & 1 Oct 2011

21

Nelspruit

21 & 22 Oct 2011

20

Kimberley

9 & 10 Dec 2011

8

Upington

25 & 26 Nov 2011

14

Klerksdorp

9 & 10 Dec 2011

32

Mmabatho

2 & 3 Dec 2011

28

Cape Town

20 & 21 Jan 2012

44

George

17 & 18 Feb 2012

14

Northern Cape
North West
Western Cape

NUMBER OF ATTENDEES
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TRAINING and COMMUNICATIONS COMMITTEE continued

Taking the sheriffs’
message to the
people
In its quest to serve with dignity, the
Board has made communicating with all
stakeholders a cornerstone of its mandate,
and so participation in a number of imbizos
(outreach programmes) together with other
Justice Cluster members was undertaken.
These included:
• Opening of the Ashton Court –
15 May 2012
• Launch of the braille booklet in
Grassy Park – 18 July 2012
• Opening of the Palm Ridge Court –
7 August 2012
• Justice Service imbizo in Atlantis –
9 August 2012
• Justice Service imbizo in Philippi –
1 August 2012
• Justice Service imbizo in
Lavender Hill – 23 August 2012

Showing the
compassionate side
World Sheriffs’ Day is an annual event and
an opportunity for sheriffs to give something
back to the public they are often in conflict
with. It was held on 7 June this year. The
Board embarked on a comprehensive
publicity programme highlighting the role of
the sheriff, through adverts, radio interviews
and print-media editorials.
In addition to the work done by the Board,
individual sheriffs’ offices around the country
joined in the programme. At the Wynberg
Court in Cape Town, three sheriffs joined
forces and erected an information booth and
hosted a soup kitchen for those attending
court. The Board chairperson visited and was
interviewed by several media personnel.
Sheriffs who participate in this global initiative
are to be congratulated, as it shows empathy
for the communities they serve.

Sheriffs’ Handbook
to be resurrected
First published in 1998, the Sheriffs’
Handbook has become an indispensible
tool, not only for sheriffs but also for many
working in the justice space. In recent years,
however, this publication has become
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outdated as new laws and case law have
come into play, the Consumer Protection
Act and National Credit Act being two.
The Board has commissioned a respected
academic to lead the process of developing
an enhanced version of the Handbook to
more closely reflect the needs of modern
sheriffing. The project leader is assisted by
a Reference Group comprising the Deputy
Chairperson of the Board along with three
highly experienced practising sheriffs. This
project is underway and we are confident
that the new publication will be available in
the coming financial year.

Perfect guide for
start-up sheriffs
Two respected sheriffs have produced a
guide to assist new and aspiring sheriffs.
Production rights to the Basic Guide to Set
Up a Sheriff’s Office have been purchased
by the Board, and the publication has
been distributed free of charge to all new
sheriffs and those looking to raise the level
of service in existing offices.

Website gains traction
Communication via the internet has
become vital for all businesses, and our
new and enhanced website is a massive
step in making communication easier
and better. Although the Board’s website
has been in existence for many years, the
latest version has seen visitor traffic jump
considerably, thanks to a host of new
information and functionality.
The site now receives more than 1 200
unique visitors every day, with the regularly
updated news section proving to be
extremely popular. Another frequent hit is
the ‘locate a sheriff’ function.
In addition to a wide range of items focused
on the public’s requirements, the website
has introduced a facility where sheriffs
are able to load upcoming auctions. This
ensures that every sheriff, no matter where
he or she is located, is able to quickly and
cost-effectively advertise an auction to a
global audience. This is a function that has
been in demand for some time and we’re
pleased to be able to offer it now.
Another important section is a secure login
facility for sheriffs. This allows the Board to

securely upload private documents and
other information and notices of specific
relevance to sheriffs. A forum is also
available where sheriffs can interact with
each other.

Taking the Board to
provinces
The Board has scheduled some of its regular
meetings to be held in different locations
around the country in an effort to bring
sheriffs on the ground closer to the Board.
The first of these was hosted at Spier wine
farm in the Western Cape; 50 local sheriffs
attended the event. The gathering was
addressed by the Chairperson and each
Board member was introduced. Board
members then shared their background
and responsibilities with the group. Board
members were each assigned to a table,
giving the opportunity for the sheriffs to
discuss issues and learn more about the
person leading their profession at the
highest level.
The second of these events was held in
East London in February 2013. This is set
to become a regular feature on the Board’s
calendar.

Publications remain
important
In spite of the increasing popularity of
the website and other electronic forms of
communication, paper-based publications
remain extremely popular with sheriffs and
other stakeholders. The annual report –
the 2012 edition received an unqualified
audit – is snapped up by sheriffs and
many others in the legal fraternity, and
our quarterly newsletter Siyanazisa always
reflects current events and other items
of interest and relevance to sheriffs. We
see this continuing as part of our external
communications programme.

FINANCE and HUMAN
RESOURCES COMMITTEE

The Finance and Human Resources Committee is charged with advising and guiding the Board with regards to the organisation’s financial
affairs; the recruitment, retention, measurement and remuneration of office staff; and the state of current and future information technology
and system requirements.

Activities are self-funded
The Board generates its income largely from the 1.5% (turnover) levy on sheriffs and a 7.5% administration fee from the Fidelity Fund. It is obvious
that the growth and financial performance of the Fidelity Fund is key to the long-term viability and sustainability of the Board’s activities. Smaller
income accrues from fines imposed on sheriffs for various infractions, and SASSETA provides grant funding for training-related projects.

Board Revenue

Levies received- 36%
Administrative fees- 53%
Investment income- 3%
SASSETA grants- 7%
Other income- 1%

The diagram below highlights the Board’s expenditure for the year. Employee costs account for about 48%, which includes allowances
paid to Board members. The jump in employee costs can be attributed to the creation and filling of three new positions. Another significant
expense is for governance, which includes the cost of Committee and Board meetings held during the year.

Board Expenses
Board and sub committees- 15%
Other board expense- 0%
Capital Expenditure/Depreciation- 3%
Executive manager’s office- 3%
Finance and HR Division- 2%
General office administration- 6%
Inspectorate division- 1%
Legal and compliance division- 3%
Other services- 2%
Employee costs- 48%
Special projects- 2%
Training and communications- 13%
Contingency budget- 2%

Annual Report 2012-2013

33

FINANCE and HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE continued

These figures are covered in greater detail
in the Annual Financial Statements on
pages 42 to 96 of this report.
As has been reported elsewhere, the Board
as well as Office members underwent
a rigorous strategic planning process
during the year. An important part of the
implementation of the Board’s strategic
vision was to ensure that the Office had
the structure and capacity to deliver on its
goals.
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and Information Technology; and Training
and Communications.
During the year, a number of senior
personnel were added to the team and this
has increased the Office’s ability to deliver
quality and timely service to its stakeholders.
Leading the team is Hoosain Kagee, a
lawyer with vast management experience
– something that will be called on often to
lead the sheriffs’ profession. Newly heading
up Legal and Compliance is Advocate
Lindiwe Mtunsi. And Andrew Simon has
been appointed General Manager of
Corporate and Financial Services, which
falls under Finance, Human Resources and
Information Technology.

To this end, a new structure comprising
three operational divisions reporting to
the Executive Manager was finalised and
implemented on 1 March 2013, the first
day of the new financial year. It’s important
to note that all positions have now been
benchmarked against those of the public
sector, and in particular those of the
DoJCD.

Another positive development has been the
Board’s commitment to offering internships,
with the first five-month student internship
conducted in 2012/2013.

The new divisions will comprise Legal and
Compliance; Finance, Human Resources

Significant progress has been made in
implementing the internal document
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management system that controls almost
every aspect of the Office’s administration
system.
The Board has moved to the standard
of financial reporting commonly used
in the public sector know as Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (GRAP).
This requires the entity to report all its
revenue and expenses due and payable,
and called for the restructuring of the
Finance Division, which will be in place for
the 2013/14 financial year.

YEAR’S EVENTS
2012-2013
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Cape Town Road Show 2012

Left to right: Advocate H Mohamed,
Mrs C Mabuza

36

Left to right: Mr H Ntsikeni, Ms F Moeletsi,
Mrs P Roodt

Left to right: Mr Voges and guest

Left to right: Mrs T Withers, Mr MTS Basson, Mr J C Coetzee, Mr M Withers

Left to right: Mr J Williams, Mr MST Basson Snr, Mr RED Cupido,
Mr E Terblanche

Left to right: Mr A Mawela, Ms F Moeletsi, Mr H Ntsikeni, Mr A Chabillal

Advocate HJ Choma
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East London Road Show 2013

Left to right: Mr V Mashalaba Sheriff of Elliot, Mr H Ntsikeni Snr, Board
Member and Sheriff of Umthatha, Mr G  Odendaal, Sheriff of Carthcart,
Mr M Ntsikeni Jnr, Mr H Mduzululwana, Sheriff of Mount Ayliff.

Left to right: Mr R Wentzel, Sheriff of Victoria West, Mr L Leshosi, Sheriff
of Adelaide, Mr S Ntshokoma, Sheriff of Pedi, Mr M Smous, Sheriff of
Aliwal North.

Left to right: Ms T Letlabika, Sheriff of Lady Grey, Mrs C Mabuza,
Chairperson f the Board and Sheriff of Nelspruit, Ms T Mabandla, Sheriff
of Mount Frere.

Left to right: Mr B Rose-Innes, Ex Board Member, Mr T Seboka, Board
Member, Mrs C Mabuza, Chairperson of the Board and Mrs. P Roodt,
Board Member.

Left to right: Ms Z Nqezo, Sheriff of Lusikisiki,
Ms P Ningiza, Sheriff of Port St Johns.

Left to right: Ms F Moeletsi, Board Member and
Sheriff of Pretoria West and Ms V Soga, Sheriff
of Port Elizabeth West.

Left to right: Mr B Rose- Innes, Sheriff of King
Williams Town, Mrs P Roodt, Board Member
and Sheriff of Bloemfontein East.
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Atlantis Service Delivery Imbizo - 9 August 2012

Palmridge New Court Opening Imbizo - 7 August 2012

Ashton Imbizo - 15 August 2012
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Grassy Park Imbizo - 18 July 2012

5th World Sheriffs’ Day - 7 June 2012

Left to right: Mr AH Camroodien, Mr JG Terblanche, Mrs C Mabuza, Mr H Mohamed, Mrs E Carelse, Mr H Kagee

Induction of new sheriffs

Honourable Deputy Minister, Mr A Nel

Left to right: Mr M Mangaba, Mrs C Mabuza

Left to right: Mr J H Schreuder, Mrs C Mabuza

Sheriffs’ Introductory Course 2012

Pretoria group
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2012-2013 Public relations and compliments
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Established in terms of the Sheriffs Act 90 of 1986, as amended

ANNUAL FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS
for the year ended 28 February 2013

Contents

Page

Statement of Board’s Responsibilities and Approval

42

Independent Auditor’s Report

43-44

Board Members Report

45

Statement of Financial Position

46

Statement of Financial Performance

47

Statement of Changes In Net Assets

48

Cashflow Statement

49

Statement of Comparison of Budgetand Actual Amounts

50

Accounting Policies

51-58

Notes to the Annual Financial Statements

59-69

The following supplementary information does not form part
of the annual financial statements and is unaudited:
Detailed Statement of Financial Performance

70-71

Annual Report 2012-2013

41

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 28 February 2013

STATEMENT OF BOARD’S
RESPONSIBILITY AND APPROVAL
The Board is required by the Sheriffs Act
no. 90 of 1996, to maintain adequate
accounting records and are responsible
for the content and integrity of the annual
financial statements and related financial
information included in this report. It is
the responsibility of the Board to ensure
that the annual financial statements
fairly present the state of affairs of the
entity as at the end of the financial year
and the results of its operations and
cash flows for the period then ended.
The external auditors are engaged to
express an independent opinion on the
annual financial statements and was
given unrestricted access to all financial
records and related data.
The annual financial statements have
been prepared in accordance with
Standards of Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including
any interpretations, guidelines and
directives issued by the Accounting
Standards Board.
The annual financial statements are based
upon appropriate accounting policies
consistently applied and supported by
reasonable and prudent judgements and
estimates. The Board acknowledge that
it is ultimately responsible for the system
of internal financial control established
by the entity and place considerable
importance on maintaining a strong
control environment. To enable the
Board to meet these responsibilities, the
Board sets standards for internal control
aimed at reducing the risk of error or
deficit in a cost effective manner. The
standards include the proper delegation
of responsibilities within a clearly
defined framework, effective accounting
procedures and adequate segregation
of duties to ensure an acceptable level
of risk.   These controls are monitored
throughout the entity and all employees
are required to maintain the highest
ethical standards in ensuring the entity’s
business is conducted in a manner that
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in all reasonable circumstances is above
reproach.  The focus of risk management
in the entity is on identifying, assessing,
managing and monitoring all known forms
of risk across the entity.  While operating
risk cannot be fully eliminated, the entity
endeavours to minimise it by ensuring
that appropriate infrastructure, controls,
systems and ethical behaviour are applied
and managed within predetermined
procedures and constraints.

The annual financial statements set out
on pages 45 to 71, which have been
prepared on the going concern basis,
were approved by the Board on 13 June
2013 and were signed on its behalf by:

The members are of the opinion, based on
the information and explanations given by
management that the system of internal
control provides reasonable assurance
that the financial records may be relied on
for the preparation of the annual financial
statements. However, any system of
internal financial control can provide only
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or deficit.

       

The Board have reviewed the entity’s cash
flow forecast for the year to 28 February
2014 and, in the light of this review
and the current financial position, it is
satisfied that the entity has or has access
to adequate resources to continue in
operational existence for the foreseeable
future.   The annual financial statements
are prepared on the basis that the entity
is a going concern and that the Board
has neither the intention nor the need to
liquidate or curtail materially the scale of
the entity.
Although the Board are primarily
responsible for the financial affairs of the
entity, they are supported by the entity’s
external auditors.
The external auditors are responsible for
independently reviewing and reporting on
the entity’s annual financial statements.
The annual financial statements have
been examined by the entity’s external
auditors and their report is presented on
page 43 to 44.

Mrs. C Mabuza
(Chairperson of the Board)

       

Mr. A Mawela
(Chairperson : Finance &
HR Committee)

       

Mr. H Kagee
(Executive Manager)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MINISTER OF JUSTICE AND
CONSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN BOARD FOR SHERIFFS

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Introduction
We have audited the financial statements
of the South African Board for Sheriffs set
out on pages 46 to 69, which comprise
the statement of financial position as
at 28 February 2013, the statement
of financial performance, statement of
changes in net assets, the cash flow
statement for the year then ended and
the statement of comparison of budget
and actual amounts, and the notes,
comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Accounting
authority’s
responsibility for the
financial statements
The accounting officer is responsible for
the preparation and fair presentation of
these financial statements in accordance
with South African Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (SA
Standards of GRAP), the requirements
of the Sheriffs Act, 1986 (Act No. 90 of
1986) as amended and the Public Audit
Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004), and for
such internal controls as the Members
determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s
responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on
our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards

on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures
to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or
error.  In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal controls
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entity’s internal controls. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates
made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the South African
Board for Sheriffs as at 28 February
2013 and its financial performance and
cash flows for the year then ended,
in accordance with South African
Statements of Generally Recognised

Accounting Practice and the requirements
of the Public Audit Act.

Emphasis of Matter
We draw attention to the matters listed
below; our opinion is not modified in
respect of these matters:

PFMA
The South African Board for Sheriffs
is awaiting a decision from National
Treasury on whether it should be
subjected to requirements of the Public
Finance Management Act (“PFMA”). The
entity has therefore not been audited
against the requirements of the PFMA, as
the application is still under consideration
by National Treasury. The entity has
therefore maintained its financial year
for this reporting period as the end of
February in terms of the Sheriffs Act. The
financial statements have disclosed this
fact in note 26.

VAT on administration fee
We draw attention to note 29 which
indicates that administration fees have
been charged by the South African Board
for Sheriffs to the Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs
without output VAT being declared
even though the South African Board
for Sheriffs is a VAT vendor. The entity
is in the process of engaging with the
South African Revenue Service (SARS)
on the correctness of this treatment,
the outcome of this and any potential
adjustment to the financial statements
is uncertain at the date of these financial
statements. A provision has been created
in the financial statements.
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Additional Matters

Financial reporting and
performance management

Unaudited supplementary
information

Current systems of the entity are
not entirely appropriate to facilitate
preparation of regular, accurate and
complete financial reports. However
during the last quarter and going into
the new financial year management has
put in place new controls and processes
to ensure that material errors and
omissions are detected and corrected
timeously.

Without modifying our opinion, we draw
attention to the fact that supplementary
information set out on pages 70 - 71
does not form part of the annual financial
statements.

REPORT ON
OTHER LEGAL
AND REGULATORY
REQUIREMENTS
In accordance with the PAA and the
General Notice issued in terms thereof,
we report the following findings relevant
to performance against predetermined
objectives, compliance with laws and
regulations and internal control, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion.

Governance
Ongoing monitoring and oversight were
previously not undertaken to enable
an assessment of the effectiveness
of internal controls over financial
reporting and compliance with laws
and regulations. Management has
implemented numerous mechanisms
during the last quarter and going into the
new financial year to deal with the lack
of oversight.

Predetermined objectives
No information on predetermined
objectives was presented for audit.
Compliance with laws and regulations
We performed procedures to obtain
evidence that the entity has complied
with applicable laws and regulations
regarding financial matters, financial
management and other related matters.
The matters reported below are limited
to the significant deficiencies resulting
in the findings on compliance with laws
and regulations:

Financial statements
The financial statements of the entity
were not submitted for audit within 3
months after the year end (31 May 2013)
as required by the Sheriffs Act, submitted
for audit on the 05th June 2013.

INTERNAL CONTROL
We considered internal control relevant to
our audit of the financial statements and
compliance with laws and regulations.
The matters reported below are limited
to the significant deficiencies noted:
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Natalie Arendse
Director
Registered Auditor
Cape Town
19 June 2013
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BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT
The board members submit their report for the year ended 28 February 2013.

1. Review of activities
Main business and operations
The entity is governed in terms of the Sheriffs Act no.90 of 1986, the objectives of the board are to maintain the esteem, enhance the status
and improve the standard of training and functions performed by sheriffs who operates throughout South Africa.

2. Going concern
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes
that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations
and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

3. Events after the reporting period
The board members are not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year that would materially impact
on the financial position of the entity.

4. Public Finance Management Act
The South African Board for Sheriffs (“SABFS”)is still undertaking  numerous remedial steps to seek clarity on the matter of the SABFS
being a PFMA Scheduled entity.  Two  opinions both from a financial and a legal aspect in respect of the applicability of the PFMA to the
Board has been obtained in the previous financial year. It has also further subsequently engaged with both National Treasury and the
Department of Justice and Constitutional Development in this regard. Treasury remains the sole agency to determine who is listed as a
PFMA entity in terms of the required legislation. We believe that resolution on this matter will be imminent as the SABFS will seek a final
decision from National Treasury in this regard.

5. Board Members
The board members for this financial year are as follows:
NAME

CHANGES

NAME

CHANGES			

C. Mabuza (Chairperson)

Re-appointed 01 March 2012

JB Skosana

End of term: 29 Feb 2012

H.J. Choma

Re-appointed 01 March 2012

M. Tayob

End of term: 29 Feb 2012

N. Nxumalo

Re-appointed 01 March 2012

H. K. Tau

End of term: 29 Feb 2012

T.F Seboka

Re-appointed: 01 March 2012

P. Mantame

End of term: 29 Feb 2012

P. Roodt

Re-appointed 01 March 2012

B. Rose-Innes

End of term: 29 Feb 2012

L. Best

Appointed: 01 March 2012						

A. Mawela

Appointed: 01 March 2012						

F. Moeletsi

Appointed: 01 March 2012						

H. Ntsikeni

Appointed: 01 March 2012						

H. Mohamed

Appointed: 01 March 2012						

T.Thembe

Appointed: 01 March 2012						
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2013
Figures in Rand

Note(s)

2013

2012

Assets

Current Assets
Trade and other receivables
Loan to related party
Cash and cash equivalents

7
9
8

2,810,970
4,644,373
7,415,994
14,871,337

2,742,728
419,926
9,179,353
12,342,007

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment

4

160,693

219,388

5

335,791
496,484
15,367,821

51,207
270,595
12,612,602

10

15,658

-

11
13

2,392,048
2,255,155
4,662,861
10,704,960

465,766
2,212,725
2,678,491
9,934,111

Accumulated Surplus

10,704,960

9,934,111

Total Net Assets

10,704,960

9,934,111

Intangible assets

Total Assets
Liabilities

Long Term Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2013
Figures in Rand

Note(s)

2013

2012

Revenue

14

5,330,564

5,637,937

Other income

14

9,086,470

9,365,607

(14,134,956)

(13,184,799)

Operating expenses
Operating surplus

15

282,078

1,818,745

Investment revenue

17

488,771

390,896

770,849

2,209,641

Surplus for the year
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2013
Figures in Rand		

Accumulated surplus

Total net assets

7,724,470

7,724,470

Surplus for the year

2,209,641

2,209,641

Balance at 01 March 2012

9,934,111

9,934,111

770,849

770,849

10,704,960

10,704,960

Balance at 01 March 2011

Changes in net assets

Changes in net assets
Surplus for the year

Balance at 28 February 2013
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED
28 FEBRUARY 2013
Figures in Rand

Note(s)

2013

2012

88,577,877

15,415,985

(86,249,293)

(13,096,622)

19

2,328,584

2,319,363

4

(67,889)

(137,099)

5,100

-

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts
Receipts from sheriffs and Fidelity Fund
Payments
Payments to suppliers and Fidelity Fund
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of assets

(309,136)

(41,612)

(4,224,447)

354,037

488,771

390,896

(4,107,601)

566,222

15,658

-

15,658

-

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

(1,763,359)

2,885,585

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year

9,179,353

6,293,768

7,415,994

9,179,353

Purchase of intangible assets

5

Movement in loan to related party
Interest income
Net cash flows from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Movement in long term liabilities
Net cash flows from financing activities

Cash and Cash equivalents at the end of the year

10

8
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL
AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2013
Approved
budget

Actual
amounts on
comparable
basis

Difference
between
budget and
actual

Note

Levies received

5,422,899

5,330,564

(92,335)

27

Administrative fees

8,038,286

7,903,834

(134,452)

27

Investment income

390,848

488,771

97,923

27

-

1,089,431

1,089,431

27

Other income

59,750

93,205

33,455

27

Total revenue

13,911,783

14,905,805

994,022

27

1,897,230

2,086,744

(189,514)

27

40,977

63,710

(22,733)

27

Capital Expenditure/Depreciation

519,512

505,455

14,057

27

Executive managers’ office

470,000

453,555

16,445

27

Finance and HR division

430,000

347,625

82,375

27

General office administration

763,900

792,435

(28,535)

27

Inspectorate division

150,000

119,947

30,053

27

Legal and compliance division

790,000

417,041

372,959

27

89,649

224,442

(134,793)

27

Employee costs

5,788,438

6,729,449

(941,011)

27

Special projects

837,500

270,642

566,858

27

1,694,300

1,806,681

(112,381)

27

404,145

317,230

86,915

27

13,875,651

14,134,956

(259,305)

27

36,132

770,849

734,717

27

Figures in Rand

Revenue

SASSETA grants

Operating Expenses

Board and sub committees
Other board expense

Other services

Training and communication
Contingency budget

Total expenses

Net Surplus
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES
1. Presentation of
Annual Financial
Statements
The annual financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the effective
Standards of Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any
interpretations, guidelines and directives
issued by the Accounting Standards
Board.
These annual financial statements have
been prepared on an accrual basis of
accounting and are in accordance with
historical cost convention unless specified
otherwise. They are presented in South
African Rand.
A summary of the significant accounting
policies, which have been consistently
applied, are disclosed below.
These accounting policies are consistent
with the previous period, except for the
changes set out in note 2.

1.1 SIGNIFICANT
JUDGEMENTS AND
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY
In preparing the annual financial
statements, management is required to
make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts represented in the
annual financial statements and related
disclosures. Use of available information
and the application of judgement is
inherent in the formation of estimates.
Actual results in the future could differ from
these estimates which may be material to
the annual financial statements. Significant
judgements include:

Trade receivables
The entity assesses its trade receivables
for impairment at the end of each
reporting period. In determining whether
an impairment loss should be recorded
in surplus or deficit, the surplus makes
judgements as to whether there is
observable data indicating a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash
flows from a financial asset.

The impairment for trade receivables is
calculated on a portfolio basis, based
on historical loss ratios, adjusted for
national and industry specific economic
conditions and other indicators present
at the reporting date that correlate with
defaults on the portfolio. These annual loss
ratios are applied to loan balances in the
portfolio and scaled to the estimated loss
emergence period.

Fair value estimation
The carrying value less impairment
provision of trade receivables and
payables are assumed to approximate
their fair values.

Provisions
Provisions were raised and management
determined an estimate based on the
information available.

Effective interest rate
The entity used the prime interest rate to
discount future cash flows.

Allowance for doubtful debts
On debtors, an impairment loss is
recognised in surplus and deficit when
there is objective evidence that it is
impaired. The impairment is measured
as the difference between the debtors
carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted
at the effective interest rate, computed at
initial recognition.

1.2 PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are tangible
non current assets (including infrastructure
assets) that are held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services,
rental to others, or for administrative
purposes, and are expected to be used
during more than one period.
The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment is recognised as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic
benefits or service potential
associated with the item will flow to
the entity; and
• the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.

Property, plant and equipment is initially
measured at cost.
The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the purchase price and
other costs attributable to bring the asset
to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Trade
discounts and rebates are deducted in
arriving at the cost.
Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or
for a nominal cost, its cost is its fair value
as at date of acquisition.
Costs include costs incurred initially
to acquire an item of property, plant
and equipment and costs incurred
subsequently to add to, replace part
of, or service it. If a replacement cost is
recognised in the carrying amount of an
item of property, plant and equipment, the
carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised.
Recognition of costs in the carrying
amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment ceases when the item is in the
location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management.
Property, plant and equipment is carried
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses.
Property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on the straight line basis
over their expected useful lives to their
estimated residual value.
The useful lives of items of property, plant
and equipment have been assessed as
follows:
Item
Burglar alarms
Computer equipmen
Furniture and fixtures
Kitchen appliances
Office equipment

Average useful life
10 years
4 years
4 years
3 years
3 years

The residual value, the useful life and
depreciation method of each asset are
reviewed at the end of each reporting date.
If the expectations differ from previous
estimates, the change is accounted for as
a change in accounting estimate.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
Each part of an item of property, plant and
equipment with a cost that is significant
in relation to the total cost of the item is
depreciated separately.
The depreciation charge for each period is
recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is
included in the carrying amount of another
asset.
Items of property, plant and equipment are
derecognised when the asset is disposed
of or when there are no further economic
benefits or service potential expected from
the use of the asset.
The gain or loss arising from the
derecognition of an item of property, plant
and equipment is included in surplus or
deficit when the item is derecognised. The
gain or loss arising from the derecognition
of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the
carrying amount of the item.
Use of estimates
judgement

and

management

In assessing the remaining useful lives
and residual values of property, plant and
equipment, management have made
judgements based on historical evidence
as well as the current condition of property,
plant and equipment under its control.

1.3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
An asset is identified as an intangible asset
when it:
• is capable of being separated or
divided from an entity and sold,
transferred, licensed, rented or
exchanged, either individually or
together with a related contract,
assets or liability; or
• arises from contractual rights or
other legal rights, regardless whether
those rights are transferable or
separate from the entity or from other
rights and obligations.
An intangible asset is recognised when:
• it is probable that the expected
future economic benefits or service
potential that are attributable to the
asset will flow to the entity; and
• the cost or fair value of the asset can
be measured reliably.
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Intangible assets are initially recognised
at cost.
An intangible asset acquired at no or
nominal cost, the cost shall be its fair value
as at the date of acquisition.
An intangible asset arising from development
(or from the development phase of an
internal project) is recognised when:
• it is technically feasible to complete
the asset so that it will be available
for use or sale.
• there is an ability to use or sell it.
• it will generate probable future
economic benefits or service
potential.
• there are available technical, financial
and other resources to complete
the development and to use or
sell the asset.
• the expenditure attributable to the
asset during its development can be
measured reliably.
Intangible assets are carried at cost less
any accumulated amortisation and any
impairment losses.
The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for intangible assets
are reviewed at each reporting date.
Amortisation is provided to write down the
intangible assets, on a straight line basis,
to their residual values as follows:

Initial recognition and
measurement
Item
Computer software
Copy Right Material
Electronic Database

Average Useful life
3 years
10 years
10 years

The entity classifies financial instruments,
or their component parts, on initial
recognition as a financial asset, a
financial liability or an equity instrument
in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangement.
Financial instruments are measured initially
at fair value, except for equity investments
for which a fair value is not determinable,
which are measured at cost and are
classified as available for sale financial
assets.
For financial instruments which are not
at fair value through surplus or deficit,
transaction costs are included in the initial
measurement of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method, less
accumulated impairment losses.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are
subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets
At each end of the reporting period the
entity assesses all financial assets, other
than those at fair value through surplus
or deficit, to determine whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset
or group of financial assets has been
impaired.
For amounts due to the entity, significant
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and
default of payments are all considered
indicators of impairment.

The entity classifies financial assets
and financial liabilities into the following
categories:

Where financial assets are impaired
through use of an allowance account, the
amount of the loss is recognised in surplus
or deficit within operating expenses. When
such assets are written off, the write off
is made against the relevant allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against operating expenses.

Loans and receivables

Trade and other receivables

1.4 FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
Classification

Financial instruments are recognised
initially when the entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Trade receivables are measured at
initial recognition at fair value, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
using the effective interest rate method.
Appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in
surplus or deficit when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired.
Significant financial difficulties of the
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and
default or delinquency in payments (more
than 30 days overdue) are considered
indicators that the trade receivable is
impaired.
The allowance recognised is measured
as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted
at the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition.

Finance leases – lessee
Finance leases are recognised as assets
and liabilities in the statement of financial
position at amounts equal to the fair
value of the leased property or, if lower,
the present value of the minimum lease
payments. The corresponding liability to
the lessor is included in the statement
of financial position as a finance lease
obligation.
Minimum lease payments are apportioned
between the finance charge and reduction
of the outstanding liability. The finance
charge is allocated to each period during
the lease term so as to produce a constant
periodic rate on the remaining balance of
the liability.

Operating leases – lessor
The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced through the use of an allowance
account, and the amount of the deficit
is recognised in surplus or deficit within
operating expenses. When a trade
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account for trade
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against operating expenses in surplus or
deficit.
Trade and other receivables are classified
as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair
value, and are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits and other
short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount
of cash and are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. These are initially
and subsequently recorded at fair value.

1.5 LEASES
A lease is classified as a finance lease if
it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership. A lease
is classified as an operating lease if it does
not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership.

Operating lease revenue is recognised as
revenue on a straight line basis over the
lease term.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging operating leases are added
to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised as an expense over the
lease term on the same basis as the lease
revenue.
The aggregate cost of incentives is
recognised as a reduction of rental revenue
over the lease term on a straight line basis.
The aggregate benefit of incentives
is recognised as a reduction of rental
expense over the lease term on a straight
line basis.
Income for leases is disclosed under
revenue in statement of financial
performance.

Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised
as an expense on a straight line basis over
the lease term. The difference between the
amounts recognised as an expense and
the contractual payments are recognised
as an operating lease asset or liability.

1.6 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Short term employee benefits
The cost of short term employee benefits,
(those payable within 12 months after the
service is rendered, such as paid vacation
leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non

monetary benefits such as medical care),
are recognised in the period in which the
service is rendered and are not discounted.
The expected cost of compensated
absences is recognised as an expense
as the employees render services that
increase their entitlement or, in the case
of non accumulating absences, when the
absence occurs.
The expected cost of surplus sharing
and bonus payments is recognised as
an expense when there is a legal or
constructive obligation to make such
payments as a result of past performance.

Defined contribution plans
Payments
to
defined
contribution
retirement benefit plans are charged as an
expense as they fall due.
Payments made to industry managed (or
state plans) retirement benefit schemes
are dealt with as defined contribution
plans where the entity’s obligation under
the schemes is equivalent to those arising
in a defined contribution retirement benefit
plan.

1.7 PROVISIONS AND
CONTINGENCIES
Provisions are recognised when:
• the entity has a present obligation as
a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic
benefits or service potential will be
required to settle the obligation; and
• a reliable estimate can be made of
the obligation.
The amount of a provision is the best
estimate of the expenditure expected to
be required to settle the present obligation
at the reporting date.
Where some or all of the expenditure
required to settle a provision is expected
to be reimbursed by another party, the
reimbursement is recognised when,
and only when, it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received if the entity
settles the obligation. The reimbursement
is treated as a separate asset. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement does
not exceed the amount of the provision.
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Provisions are not recognised for future
operating deficits.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
are not recognised. Contingencies are
disclosed in note 29.

1.8 REVENUE
FROM EXCHANGE
TRANSACTIONS
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic
benefits or service potential during the
reporting period when those inflows result in
an increase in net assets, other than increases
relating to contributions from owners.
An exchange transaction is one in which
the entity receives assets or services, or
has liabilities extinguished, and directly
gives approximately equal value (primarily
in the form of goods, services or use of
assets) to the other party in exchange.
Fair value is the amount for which an asset
could be exchanged, or a liability settled,
between knowledgeable, willing parties in
an arm’s length transaction. An exchange
transaction will be recognised as and when the
Board receives a declaration from the sheriff.  

Measurement
Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable,
net of trade discounts and volume rebates.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is
recognised when all the following
conditions have been satisfied:
• the entity has transferred to the
purchaser the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods;

When the outcome of a transaction
involving the rendering of services can
be estimated reliably, revenue associated
with the transaction is recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of
the transaction at the reporting date.
The outcome of a transaction can be
estimated reliably when all the following
conditions are satisfied:
• the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic
benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will
flow to the entity;
• the stage of completion of the
transaction at the reporting date can
be measured reliably; and
• the costs incurred for the transaction
and the costs to complete the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest, royalties and
dividends
Revenue arising from the use by others of
entity assets yielding interest, royalties and
dividends is recognised when:
• It is probable that the economic
benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will
flow to the entity, and
• The amount of the revenue can be
measured reliably.
Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit,
using the effective interest rate method.
Investment income will be recognised as
and when the Fund becomes entitled to
the income.

• the entity retains neither continuing
managerial involvement to the
degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over
the goods sold;

Service fees included in the price of the
product are recognised as revenue over
the period during which the service is
performed.

• the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably;

1.9 REVENUE FROM
NON-EXCHANGE
TRANSACTIONS

• it is probable that the economic
benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will
flow to the entity; and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred
in respect of the transaction can be
measured reliably.
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Revenue comprises gross inflows of
economic benefits or service potential
received and receivable by an entity, which
represents an increase in net assets, other
than increases relating to contributions
from owners.

Conditions on transferred assets are
stipulations that specify that the future
economic benefits or service potential
embodied in the asset is required to be
consumed by the recipient as specified
or future economic benefits or service
potential must be returned to the
transferor.
Control of an asset arises when the entity
can use or otherwise benefit from the
asset in pursuit of its objectives and can
exclude or otherwise regulate the access
of others to that benefit.
Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions.
In a non-exchange transaction, an entity
either receives value from another entity
without directly giving approximately
equal value in exchange, or gives value
to another entity without directly receiving
approximately equal value in exchange.
Restrictions on transferred assets are
stipulations that limit or direct the purposes
for which a transferred asset may be used,
but do not specify that future economic
benefits or service potential is required
to be returned to the transferor if not
deployed as specified.
Stipulations on transferred assets are
terms in laws or regulations, or a binding
arrangement, imposed upon the use of a
transferred asset by entities external to the
reporting entity.

Recognition
An inflow of resources from a nonexchange transaction recognised as an
asset is recognised as revenue, except to
the extent that a liability is also recognised
in respect of the same inflow.
As the entity satisfies a present obligation
recognised as a liability in respect of an
inflow of resources from a non exchange
transaction recognised as an asset, it
reduces the carrying amount of the liability
recognised and recognises an amount of
revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement
Revenue from a non-exchange transaction
is measured at the amount of the increase
in net assets recognised by the entity.
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When, as a result of a non-exchange
transaction, the entity recognises an asset,
it also recognises revenue equivalent to
the amount of the asset measured at its
fair value as at the date of acquisition,
unless it is also required to recognise a
liability. Where a liability is required to be
recognised it will be measured as the best
estimate of the amount required to settle
the obligation at the reporting date, and
the amount of the increase in net assets,
if any, recognised as revenue. When a
liability is subsequently reduced, because
the taxable event occurs or a condition is
satisfied, the amount of the reduction in
the liability is recognised as revenue.

1.10 COMPARATIVE FIGURES
Where necessary, comparative figures
have been reclassified to conform to
changes in presentation in the current year.

1.11 IRREGULAR,
FRUITLESS AND
WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE
Irregular expenditure, as defined in section
1 of the Public Finance Management
Act (PFMA) is expenditure, other than
unauthorised
expenditure,
incurred
in contravention of, or that is not in
accordance with:
a) a requirement of the PFMA (Act No.
29 of 1999); or
b) a requirement of the State Tender 		
Board Act (Act No. 86 of 1968), or 		
any regulations made in terms of the
Act; or
c a requirement in any provincial
legislation providing for procurement
procedures in that provincial 		
government.
Fruitless expenditure means expenditure
which was made in vain and would have
been avoided had reasonable care been
exercised.
All expenditure relating to fruitless and
wasteful expenditure is recognised
as an expense in the statement of
financial performance in the year that the
expenditure was incurred. The expenditure
is classified in accordance with the nature
of the expense, and where recovered, it is
subsequently accounted for as revenue in
the statement of financial performance.

1.12 BUDGET INFORMATION
The entity is typically subject to budgetary
limits in the form of appropriations or
budget authorisations (or equivalent),
which is given effect through authorising
legislation, appropriation or similar.
General purpose financial reporting by
entity shall provide information on whether
resources were obtained and used in
accordance with the legally adopted
budget.
The annual financial statements and
the budget are not on the same basis
of accounting therefore a reconciliation
between the statement of financial
performance and the budget have been
included in the annual financial statements.
Refer to note 27.

2. Changes in
accounting policy
The annual financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Standards
of Generally Recognised Accounting
Practice on a basis consistent with the
prior year except where new standards
become effective.

3. New standards and
interpretations
3.1 Standards and
interpretations effective in
the current year
In the current year, the following standards
and interpretations are effective.

GRAP 104: Financial Instruments
The standard prescribes recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure
requirements for financial instruments.
Financial instruments are defined as those
contracts that result in a financial asset
in one entity and a financial liability or
residual interest in another entity. A key
distinguishing factor between financial
assets and financial liabilities and other
assets and liabilities, is that they are
settled in cash or by exchanging financial
instruments rather than through the
provision of goods or services.

One of the key considerations in initially
recognising financial instruments is
the distinction, by the issuers of those
instruments, between financial assets,
financial liabilities and residual interests.
Financial assets and financial liabilities
are distinguished from residual interests
because they involve a contractual right
or obligation to receive or pay cash or
another financial instrument. Residual
interests entitle an entity to a portion of
another entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation and, to dividends or similar
distributions paid at management’s
discretion.
In determining whether a financial
instrument is a financial asset, financial
liability or a residual interest, an entity
considers the substance of the contract
and not just the legal form.
Where a single instrument contains both a
liability and a residual interest component,
the issuer allocates the instrument into its
component parts. The issuer recognises
the liability component at its fair value and
recognises the residual interest as the
difference between the carrying amount
of the instrument and the fair value of
the liability component. No gain or loss is
recognised by separating the instrument
into its component parts.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially recognised at fair value. Where an
entity subsequently measures financial
assets and financial liabilities at amortised
cost or cost, transaction costs are
included in the cost of the asset or liability.
The transaction price usually equals the
fair value at initial recognition, except
in certain circumstances, for example,
where interest free credit is granted or
where credit is granted at a below market
rate of interest.
Concessionary loans are loans either
received by or granted to another entity
on concessionary terms, e.g. at low
interest rates and flexible repayment
terms. On initial recognition, the fair value
of a concessionary loan is the present
value of the agreed contractual cash
flows, discounted using a market related
rate of interest for a similar transaction.
The difference between the proceeds
either received or paid and the present
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value of the contractual cash flows is
accounted for as non exchange revenue
by the recipient of a concessionary loan
in accordance with Standard of GRAP on
Revenue from Non-exchange Revenue
Transactions (Taxes and Transfers), and
using the Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements
(usually as an expense) by the grantor of
the loan.
Financial assets and financial liabilities
are subsequently measured either at fair
value or, amortised cost or cost. An entity
measures a financial instrument at fair
value if it is:
• a derivative;
• a combined instrument designated
at fair value, i.e. an instrument
that includes a derivative and a non
derivative host contract;
• held for trading;
• a non derivative instrument with
fixed or determinable payments that
is designated at initial recognition to
be measured at fair value;
• an investment in a residual interest
for which fair value can be measured
reliably; and
• other instruments that do not meet
the definition of financial instruments
at amortised cost or cost.
Derivatives are measured at fair value.
Combined instruments that include a
derivative and non derivative host contract
are accounted for as follows:
• Where an embedded derivative is
included in a host contract which is a
financial instrument within the
scope of this Standard, an entity
can designate the entire contract
to be measured at fair value or, it
can account for the host contract
and embedded derivative separately
using GRAP 104. An entity is
however required to measure the
entire instrument at fair value if the
fair value of the derivative cannot be
measured reliably.
• Where the host contract is not a
financial instrument within the
scope of this Standard, the host
contract and embedded derivative
are accounted for separately using
GRAP 104 and the relevant Standard
of GRAP.
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Financial assets and financial liabilities that
are non derivative instruments with fixed
or determinable payments, for example
deposits with banks, receivables and
payables, are measured at amortised
cost. At initial recognition, an entity can
however designate such an instrument to
be measured at fair value.
An entity can only measure investments
in residual interests at cost where the fair
value of the interest cannot be determined
reliably.
Once an entity has classified a financial
asset or a financial liability either at fair
value or amortised cost or cost, it is only
allowed to reclassify such instruments in
limited instances.
An entity derecognises a financial asset, or
the specifically identified cash flows of an
asset, when:
• the cash flows from the asset expire,
are settled or waived;
• significant risks and rewards are
transferred to another party; or
• despite having retained significant
risks and rewards, an entity has
transferred control of the asset to
another entity.
An entity derecognises a financial liability
when the obligation is extinguished.
Exchanges of debt instruments between
a borrower and a lender are treated as the
extinguishment of an existing liability and
the recognition of a new financial liability.
Where an entity modifies the term of an
existing financial liability, it is also treated
as the extinguishment of an existing liability
and the recognition of a new liability.
An entity cannot offset financial assets
and financial liabilities in the statement of
financial position unless a legal right of set
off exists, and the parties intend to settle
on a net basis.
GRAP 104 requires extensive disclosures
on the significance of financial instruments
for an entity’s statement of financial position
and statement of financial performance, as
well as the nature and extent of the risks
that an entity is exposed to as a result
of its annual financial statements. Some
disclosures, for example the disclosure
of fair values for instruments measured at

amortised cost or cost and the preparation
of a sensitivity analysis, are encouraged
rather than required.
GRAP 104 does not prescribe principles
for hedge accounting. An entity is
permitted to apply hedge accounting, as
long as the principles in IAS 39 are applied.
It is unlikely that the amendment will have
a material impact on the entity’s annual
financial statements.

3.2 Standards and
interpretations issued, but
not yet effective
The entity has not applied the following
standards and interpretations, which have
been published and are mandatory for the
entity’s accounting periods beginning on
or after 01 April 2013 or later periods:

GRAP 18 Segment Reporting
This
Standard
requires
additional
disclosures on the various segments of
the business in a manner that is consistent
with the information reported internally
to the management of this entity. This
standard does not yet have an effective
date.
GRAP 20 Related parties
The objective of this Standard is to ensure
that a reporting entity’s financial statements
contain the disclosures necessary to
draw attention to the possibility that its
financial position and surplus or deficit
may have been affected by the existence
of related parties and by transactions and
outstanding balances with such parties.
An entity that prepares and presents
financial statements under the accrual
basis of accounting (in this standard
referred to as the reporting entity) shall
apply this standard in:
• identifying related party relationships
and transactions;
• identifying outstanding balances,
including commitments, between an
entity and its related parties;
• identifying the circumstances in
which disclosure of the items in (a)
and (b) is required; and
• determining the disclosures to be
made about those items.
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This Standard requires disclosure of
related party relationships, transactions
and outstanding balances, including
commitments, in the consolidated and
separate financial statements of the
reporting entity in accordance with the
Standard of GRAP on Consolidated
and Separate Financial Statements.
This Standard also applies to individual
financial statements.
Disclosure of related party transactions,
outstanding
balances,
including
commitments, and relationship with related
parties may affect users’ assessments of
the financial position and performance of
the reporting entity and its ability to deliver
agreed services, including assessments
of the risks and opportunities facing the
entity. This disclosure also ensures that
the reporting entity is transparent about its
dealings with related parties.
The Standard states that a related party is a
person or an entity with the ability to control
or jointly control the other party, or exercise
significant influence over the other party,
or vice versa, or an entity that is subject
to common control, or joint control. As a
minimum, the following are regarded as
related parties of the reporting entity:
• A person or a close member of that
person’s family is related to the
reporting entity if that person:
• has control or joint control over the
reporting entity;
• has significant influence over the
reporting entity;
• is a member of the management of
the entity or its controlling entity.
An entity is related to the reporting entity if
any of the following conditions apply:
• the entity is a member of the same
economic entity (which means that
each controlling entity, controlled
entity and fellow controlled entity is
related to the others);
• one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a
member of an economic entity of
which the other entity is a member);
• both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party;
• one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;

• the entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the entity or
an entity related to the entity. If the
reporting entity is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are related
to the entity;
• the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in
(a); and
• a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over that entity
or is a member of
• the management of that entity (or its  
controlling entity).
The Standard furthermore states that a
related party transaction is a transfer of
resources, services or obligations between
the reporting entity and a related party,
regardless of whether a price is charged.
The Standard elaborates on the definitions
and identification of:
• Close member of the family of a
person,• Management;
• Related parties;
• Remuneration; and
• Significant influence.
The Standard sets out the requirements,
inter alia, for the disclosure of:
• Control;
• Related party transactions; and
• Remuneration of management.
The effective date of the standard is for
years beginning on or after 01 April 2013.
An entity shall apply Standards of GRAP
for annual financial statements covering
periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined by the Minister of Finance in a
regulation to be published in accordance
with section 91(l)(b) of the PFMA
GRAP 25 Employee benefits
The objective of GRAP25 is to prescribe
the accounting and disclosure for
employee benefits. The Standard requires
an entity to recognise:
• a liability when an employee has
provided service in exchange for 		
employee benefits to be paid in the
future; and ° an expense when an 		

entity consumes the economic 		
benefits or service potential arising
from service provided by an 		
employee in exchange for employee
benefits.
GRAP 25 must be applied by an employer
in accounting for all employee benefits,
except share based payment transactions.
GRAP 25 defines, amongst others, the
following:
• Employee benefits as all forms of
consideration given by an entity
in exchange for service rendered by
employees;
• Defined contribution plans as postemployment benefit plans under
which an entity pays fixed
contributions into a separate entity
(a fund) and will have no legal or
constructive obligation to pay further
contributions if the fund does
not hold sufficient assets to pay
all employee benefits relating to
employee service in the current and
prior periods;
• Defined benefit plans as postemployment benefit plans other than
defined contribution plans;
• Multi-employer plans as defined
contribution plans (other than state
plans and composite social security
programs) or defined benefit plans
(other than state plans) that:
• pool the assets contributed by
various entities that are not under
common control; and
• use those assets to provide benefits
to employees of more than one
entity, on the basis that contribution
and benefit levels are determined
without regard to the identity of the
entity that employs the employees
concerned;
• Other long-term employee benefits
as employee benefits (other than
post-employment benefits and
termination benefits) that are not
due to be settled within twelve
months after the end of the period.
Post-employment benefits as
employee benefits (other than
termination benefits) which are
payable after the completion of
employment;
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• Post-employment benefit plans
as formal or informal arrangements
under which an entity provides postemployment benefits for one or more
employees;
• Short-term employee benefits
as employee benefits (other than
termination benefits) that are due to
be settled within twelve months
after the end of the period in which
the employees render the related
service;
• State plans as plans other than
composite social security programs
established by legislation which
operate as if they are multi-employer
plans for all entities in economic
categories laid down in legislation;
• Termination benefits as employee
benefits payable as a result of either:

Multi-employer plans;
• Defined benefit plans where the
participating entities are under
common control;
• State plans;
• Composite social security programs;
• Insured benefits.
The Standard states, for Post-employment
benefits: Defined benefit plans, the
following requirements:
• Recognition and measurement;
• Presentation;
• Disclosure;
• Accounting for the constructive
obligation;
• Statement of financial position;
• Asset recognition ceiling;

• an entity’s decision to terminate an
employee’s employment before the
normal retirement date; or

• Asset recognition ceiling: when a
minimum funding requirement may
give rise to a liability;

• an employee’s decision to accept
voluntary redundancy in exchange
for those benefits;

• Statement of financial performance.

• Vested employee benefits, such
as employee benefits, that are not
conditional on future employment.

The Standard prescribes recognition and
measurement for:
• Present value of defined benefit
obligations and current service cost:
• Actuarial valuation method;

The Standard states the recognition,
measurement and disclosure requirements
of:
• Short-term employee benefits;
• All short-term employee benefits;

• Actuarial assumptions;
• Actuarial assumptions: discount rate;

• Short-term compensated absences;

• Actuarial assumptions: salaries,
benefits and medical costs;

• Bonus, incentive and performance
related payments;

• Actuarial gains and losses;

• Post-employment benefits: Defined
contribution plans;

• Plan assets:

• Other long-term employee benefits;
• Termination benefits.
The Standard states Post-employment
benefits:
• Distinction between defined
contribution plans and defined
benefit plans:
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service;
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• Past service cost.
• Fair value of plan assets;
• Reimbursements;
• Return on plan assets.
The Standard also deals with entity
combinations and curtailments and
settlements. The effective date of the  
standard is for   years beginning on   or
after 01 April 2013.  It is unlikely that the
standard will have a material impact on the
entity’s financial statements.

GRAP 105 Transfer of functions between
entities under common control
The objective of this Standard is to
establish accounting principles for the
acquirer and transferor in a transfer of
functions between entities under common
control. No significant impact is expected
as the entity does not participate in such
business transactions.
GRAP 106 Transfer of functions
between entities not under common
control
The objective of this Standard is to
establish accounting principles for the
acquirer and transferor of functions
between entities not under common
control. No significant impact is expected
as the entity does not participate in such
business transactions.
GRAP 107 Mergers
The objective of this Standard is to
establish accounting principles for the
combined entity and combining entities in
a merger.
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4. Property, plant and equipment
2013

2012

Cost

Accumulated
Depreciation

Carrying
value

Cost

Accumulated
Depreciation

Carrying
value

2,700

(2,700)

-

2,700

(2,700)

-

Computer equipment

416,875

(292,676)

124,199

457,665

(288,352)

169,313

Furniture and fixtures

293,999

(287,997)

6,002

290,996

(257,619)

33,377

8,766

(3,627)

2,260

(2,260)

-

Office equipment

108,326

(82,973)

25,353

87,468

(70,770)

16,698

Total

830,666

(669,973)

160,693

841,089

(621,701)

219,388

Disposals

Depreciation

Closing
Balance

Burglar alarms

Kitchen appliances

5,139

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2013
Opening
balance

Additions

-

-

-

-

-

Computer equipment

169,313

37,521

(1,177)

(81,458)

124,199

Furniture and fixtures

33,377

3,004

-

(30,379)

6,002

-

6,506

-

(1,367)

16,698

20,858

-

(12,203)

25,353

219,388

67,889

(1,177)

(125,407)

160,693

Burglar alarms

Kitchen appliances
Office equipment

5,139

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment - 2012
Opening
balance

Additions

Depreciation

Closing
Balance

-

-

-

-

Computer equipment

110,648

121,398

(62,733)

169,313

Furniture and fixtures

72,553

5,168

(44,344)

33,377

130

-

(130)

-

27,304

10,533

(21,139)

16,698

210,635

137,099

(128,346)

219,388

Burglar alarms

Kitchen appliances
Office equipment
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Figures in Rand

Note(s) 2013

2012

5. Intangible Assets
2013

2012

Cost

Accumulated
Amortisation

Copy Right
Material

261,250

-

SharePoint
Database

31,755

(1,008)

Computer
software

250,543

(206,749)

Total

543,548

(207,757)

Carrying value

Cost

Accumulated
Amortisation

Carrying
value

261,250

-

-

-

-

-

-

234,412

(183,205)

51,207

234,412

(183,205)

51,207

30,747
43,794
335,791

Reconciliation of intangible assets– 2013
Opening
balance
Copy Right Material

Closing
Balance

Amortisation

-

261,250

-

261,250

-

31,755

(1,008)

30,747

51,207

16,131

(23,544)

43,794

51,207

309,136

(24,552)

335,791

SharePoint Database
Computer software

Additions

Reconciliation of intangible assets - 2012
Opening
balance

Amortisation

Closing
Balance

Copy Right Material

-

-

-

SharePoint Database

-

-

-

59,511

41,612

(49,916)

51,207

59,511

41,612

(49,916)

51,207

Computer software
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

6 . Financial assets by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:
Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables

2,810,970

2,742,728

Cash and cash equivalents

7,415,994

9,179,353

10,226,964

11,922,081

2,287,987

2,222,479

522,983

75,453

-

444,796

2,810,970

2,742,728

7. Trade and other receivables
Accrued income
Other receivables
Value added taxation

The ageing of trade and other receivables at the reporting date
The ageing of accounts receivables are as follows:
30 days
90 days plus

353,750

2,457,220

2,742,728

2,810,970

2,742,728

1,186

32,858

329,007

170,516

7,085,801

8,975,979

7,415,994

9,179,353

4,644,373

419,926

8. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand
Bank balances
Short-term deposits

9. Loan to related party
Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs – owing amount
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

15,658

-

10. Long term liabilities
Finance lease obligations

The finance lease obligation relates to Laptop computers bought on a data contract with Vodacom.
Amounts payable under finance lease:
Within one year
Within two and five years

11,053

-

4,605

-

15,658

-

13,381

-

11. Trade and other payables
Refunds Due

1,320,192

452,819

Value added taxation

325,769

-

Other payables

732,706

12,947

2,392,048

465,766

Accrued expenses

12 .Financial liabilities by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:
Financial liabilities by category
Trade and other payables

2,392,048

465,766

13. Provisions
Leave provision
Value Added Taxation
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122,264

79,834

2,132,891

2,132,891

2,255,155

2,212,725
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

Levies received

5,330,564

5,637,937

Administrative fees received

7,903,834

7,198,141

14. Revenue

Fines and penalties

89,282

176,750

Government grants

1,089,431

1,987,966

Sale of assets
Sale of promotional material

3,923

-

-

2,750

14,417,034

15,003,544

The amounts included in revenue arising from exchange of goods or service are as follows:
Administrative fees received
Sale of assets
Sales of promotional material

7,903,834

7,198,141

3,923

-

-

2,750

7,907,757

7,200,891

The amounts included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions are as follows:
Levies received
Fines and penalties

5,330,564

5,637,937

89,282

176,750

1,089,431

1,987,966

6,509,2077

7,802,653

Lease rentals on operating lease

333,080

291,875

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment

125,407

128,346

SASSETA grants

15. Operating surplus
Operating surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

24,552

49,916

Auditor’s remuneration

191,703

310,000

Consulting fees

611,774

358,503

Employee costs

6,275,010

5,362,431

Amortisation of intangible assets

16. Auditor’s remuneration
Audit Fees
Other services

139,523

75,000

52,180

235,000

191,703

310,000

488,771

390,896

17. Investment Revenue
Interest revenue
Short-term deposits

18. Taxation
No provision has been made for 2013 taxation as the receipts and accruals to the entity are exempt from income tax in
terms of section 10(1)cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act.
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

770,849

2,209,641

Depreciation

125,407

128,346

Amortisation

24,552

49,916

(488,771)

(390,896)

19. Cash generated from operations
Surplus before taxation
Adjustments for:

Interest received

(3,923)

Profit on sale of assets
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables
Provisions

(68,242)

(412,442)

1,926,282

734,798

42,430

-

2,328,584

2,319,363

20. Commitments
Operating leases – as lessee (Office space, office equipment and telephone systems)
Minimum lease payments due
-

within one year

-

in second to fifth year inclusive

-

later than five years

230,304

423,569

690,912

2,162,363

-

682,162

921,216

3,268,094

21. Related parties
Relationships
Common Board members

Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs

The Sheriffs’ Board was established under the Sheriffs’ Act and the Fidelity Fund is managed by the Board on behalf of
the Minister of Justice. The Board enters into various transactions, at arm’s length with the Fidelity Fund. The Board and
the Fund had common Board members for the year.
Related party balances
Loan account – Owing by related party
Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs

4,644,373

419,426

193,261

175,692

Related party transactions
Rent paid to related party
Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs

The lease agreement was entered into based on market related rentals with an escalation clause of 10% per year.

64

South African Board for Sheriffs

Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 28 February 2013

NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Figures in Rand

2013

2012

21. Administration fees received from related party (continue)
Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs

7,903,834

7,198,141

The Administrative fee is based on an agreement signed between the Board and the Fidelity Fund.

22. Prior period errors and reclassifications
First time adoption of GRAP
The first time adoption of GRAP in the 2012 financial year resulted in the restatement of certain balances
in the prior year
· Reclassification of other financial assets as cash and cash equivalents. Property, plant and equipment which consist
of Computer software was reclassified as intangible assets.
· VAT on administrations fees was raised for the prior year which resulted in the restatement of
certain balances.
The correction of error(s) resulted in adjustments as follows
Statement of financial position
Increase in Trade and other receivables

-

(59,511)

Decrease in Loan from related party

-

59,511

Increase in Trade and other payables

-

(59,460)

Decrease in Property, plant and equipment

-

(773,964)

Increase in Intangible assets

-

1,000,108

-

165,744

-

(165,744)

Increase in revenue

-

940

Increase in investment revenue

-

(166,684)

Increase in operating expenses

-

(165,744)

(940)

Increase in Loan to related party

Statement of changes in net assets
Decrease in Accumulated surplus
Statement of financial performance				
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

23. Risk management
Financial risk management
The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.
Liquidity risk
The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk through
an on-going review of future commitments.
Cash is managed prudently by keeping sufficient cash in bank accounts.  Cash is received from Sheriffs and the Fidelity fund.  
Interest rate risk
The Board has interest-bearing assets and the income and operating cash flows are substantially dependent on the changes in
the market interest rates.  The interest-bearing assets consist of short term investments with floating interest rate that expose the
Board to cash flow interest rate risks. The interest rate used is based on the prime rate.
Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash with major banks
with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter party.
Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an ongoing basis. If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control
assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual
risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of credit limits is
regularly monitored.

24. Going concern
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities,
contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

25. Events after the reporting date
The Board is not aware of any matters or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year which significantly affect the
financial position of the Board or the result of operations.  The Board have made a decision to buy a new building and to put the
old building on the market in the foreseeable future.

26. Public Finance Management Act
The South African Board for Sheriffs is awaiting a decision from National Treasury on whether it should be subjected to requirements
of the Public Finance Management Act (“PFMA”). The entity has therefore not been audited against the requirements of the PFMA,
as the application is still under consideration by National Treasury. The entity has therefore maintained its financial year for this
reporting period as the end of February in terms of the Sheriffs Act.
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

27. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget
Revenue:
The over recovery of revenue by R994,022 representing 7,15% is attributed to the following:
Levies
The under recovery of levies of 1.7% is due to the nature of the revenue which is directly related to the activity of the sheriffs.  
Sheriff’s income was reduced by the slowdown in the economy experienced over the last few years.
Administrative fee
The under recovery of 1.67% is also due to the lower than expected growth in the value of the fidelity fund of the board.  The basis
for the calculation of the administrative fee is the value of the Fidelity fund.  Administrative fees are calculated at 7.5% of the value
of the fund on a quarterly basis.
Investment income
Investment income over recovery of 25.05% can be attributed to the active reinvestment of excessive cash in investment vehicles
that generates a higher rate of interest than the normal current account.
SASSETA Grants
The over recovery of 100% in this revenue, from this source, was not budgeted for as this income is directly related to the expense
item for training.  The more prudent approach will be to budget for the revenue to give a better reflection of revenue generation.
Other income
The over recovery of 55.99% of this revenue can be attributed to the actions taken by management to ensure that all sheriffs
comply with the requirements of the Sheriffs Act.

Expenses:
Total expenses is above the budget by R259,309 representing a 1.67% which is attributed to the following:
Board and sub committees
The over expenditure on this item is due more meetings being held by the board. A total of 8 board meetings were held instead of
4 as required.
Other board expenditure
The over expenditure of 55.48% on this item is directly related to the number of meetings held and attended by board members.
Capital expenditure and depreciation
Capital projects were not completed and will be completed in the new financial year.  The under expenditure of 2.71% will be utilised
in the new financial year.
Executive Managers’ office
The under expenditure on this item relates to unspent capital projects which will be completed in the new financial year and would
require the board to approve a carry over budget.
Finance and HR division
The under expenditure in this item relates to the policy reviews which was not completed in the current year and carried forward
to the new financial year.
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

27. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget(continue)
General office administration
The over expenditure of R28,535 representing a 3.74% under spend of this budget.  The increase relates to the additional staff
employed during the financial year.
Inspectorate division
The under spending of 20.04% on this item relates to savings achieved on the number of investigations under taken during the
financial year.
Legal and compliance division
The under spending of 47.21% relates to the capital project of Sharepoint which was not completed in the current year and will be
carried forward to the new financial year.
Other services
The overspending of 150.36% in this item relates to the over spending on the audit and related fee for the previous financial year.
Small amounts were related to other services which was not material.
Employee costs
The over spending of 16.26% in this item relates to the filling of position due to the organisational review that took place during the
current year and which will be implemented in the new financial year.  The Board members remuneration policy was also changed
during the current financial from per day allowances to per meeting allowance paid to board members.
Special projects
The under spending of 67.68% in this line item relates to the relocation amount which was not spent as the board will only relocate
offices in the new financial year.  Other projects not completed relates to the sheriffs guide which will be spend in the new financial
year.
Training and communication
The over spending of 6.63% in this line item relates to the over spending on the SASSETA grant expenses which was not budgeted
for. The over spending on media statements, the newsletters and the sheriff’s days.   Under spending occurred in some items
included under this line item.
Contingency budget
The under spending of 21.51% relates to less contingencies items taking place during the year under review.
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2013

2012

28. Executive management and Board members’ remuneration
The following persons are employed by the board in their respective executive capacities during the financial year.
Executive Management remuneration
H Kagee

Executive Manager (1 June 2012)

606,179

-

BZ Luthuli

Finance, HR, IT and Acting Executive Manager

511,187

421,466

MB Maseko

Head of Inspectorate & Acting Legal Manager

429,919

367,577

VP Nel

Training and Communication Manager

446,759

399,871

L Mtunzi

General Manager Legal And Complains
(30 May 2012)

383,333

-

AC Simon

General Manager Corporate and Financial
Services (1 January 2013)

92,605

-

Legal and compliance Manager (contract
ended 31 July 2011)

-

150,292

Executive Manager (by mutual agreement
contract ended 11 November 2011)

-

440,648

2,469,982

1,779,854

C. Mabuza

113,351

72,000

H.J. Choma

65,807

65,000

N. Nxumalo

63,543

50,000

T.F. Seboka

77,853

60,000

P. Roodt

90,507

105,000

-

-

L. Best

24,288

-

H. Ntsikeni

56,180

-

F.R. Moeletsi

57,061

-

A.Mawela

81,694

-

T. Tembe

54,536

TC Jacobs
A Percival

Board Members’ emoluments(non-executive)

H. Mohamed

H.K Tau

-

76,000

M. Tayob

-

25,000

B. Rose-Innes

-

46,000

P. Mantame

-

61,000

684,820

560,000

29. Contingencies
Value Added Taxation (VAT)
The admin fees charged by the South African Board for Sheriffs (SABFS), a VAT vendor, to the Fidelity Fund has up until now been charged
without VAT. The entity is in the process of engaging with the South African Revenue Service (SARS) on the correctness of this treatment,
the outcome of this and any potential adjustment to the financial statements is uncertain at the date of these financial statements. Provision
has been made for the VAT on the Administrative fee for prior years.  Penalties were raised at the applicable rate on these amounts.  We
are uncertain as to the number of years SARS will apply the correction to the VAT.  Interest on the amounts was also not raised due to the
abovementioned uncertainty.  The effect of the adjustments will be material if SARS decides to extend the period beyond the period already
provided for. During the current year under review, the SABFS charge the Fidelity fund the output VAT on the admin fees.  The amount for the
first quarter was declared to SARS, however, the second period will only be declared in the next VAT period.  The VAT on the admin fees for
the last half of the financial year will be declared in the next period also as this invoice was raised after the year end.
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Figures in Rand

2013

2013

2012

2012

Revenue
Levies received

5,330,564

5,637,937

Administrative fees

7,903,834

7,198,141

Government grants

1,089,431

1,987,966

Fines and penalties

89,282

176,750

-

2,750

14,413,111

15,003,544

488,771

390,896

3,923

-

14,905,805

15,394,440

Sales of promotional material
Total revenue
Other income
Investment income
Profit on sale of assets
Operating income
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YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2013 (Continued)
Figures in Rand

2013

2012

411,728

459,032

191,703

310,000

22,824

16,623

Catering expenses

81,383

83,627

Cleaning

27,536

22,062

1,249,287

864,102

611,774

358,503

10,705

8,547

Operating expenses
Accommodations
Auditor’s remuneration
Bank charges

Communication and public education
Consulting fees
Criminal and credit clearance

16

149,959

178,262

DC & Inspection

80,821

-

Electricity and
water

56,460

52,271

6,275,010

5,362,431

7,393

100,774

13,175

9,057

Depreciation

Employee costs
Fines and
penalties
Gifts

103,444

4,566

31,047

47,759

Lease rentals on operating lease

333,080

291,875

Legal fees

167,335

-

-

11,991

IT expenses
Insurance

Outreach

8,131

7,724

Postage

126,944

48,863

Printing and
stationery

313,292

214,424

Recruitment
expenses

359,109

221,050

23,515

-

109,653

145,377

Security

5,208

4,644

Sheriffs appointment – PAC shortlisting

9,367

-

Parking expenses

Relocation costs
Repairs and maintenance

Staff welfare

100,482

24,041

Stakeholder
interaction

43,318

298,802

35,112

21,915

254,943

238,628

Training

1,343,184

2,511,401

Travel – local

1,578,034

1,266,448

14,134,956

13,184,799

770,849

2,209,641

Subscriptions
Telephone and fax

Surplus for the year
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STATEMENT OF BOARD’S RESPONSIBILITY
AND APPROVAL
The Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs’ Board is
required by the Sheriffs Act no. 90 of 1986,
to maintain adequate accounting records
and is responsible for the content and
integrity of the annual financial statements
and related financial information included
in this report. It is the responsibility of the
Board to ensure that the annual financial
statements fairly present the state of affairs
of the entity as at the end of the financial
year and the results of its operations and
cash flows for the period then ended.
The external auditors are engaged to
express an independent opinion on the
annual financial statements and was given
unrestricted access to all financial records
and related data.
The annual financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Standards of
Generally Recognised Accounting Practice
(GRAP) including any interpretations,
guidelines and directives issued by the
Accounting Standards Board.
The annual financial statements are based
upon appropriate accounting policies
consistently applied and supported by
reasonable and prudent judgements and
estimates. The Board acknowledge that
it is ultimately responsible for the system
of internal financial control established
by the entity and place considerable
importance on maintaining a strong
control environment. To enable the
Board to meet these responsibilities, the
Board sets standards for internal control
aimed at reducing the risk of error or
deficit in a cost effective manner. The
standards include the proper delegation
of responsibilities within a clearly
defined framework, effective accounting
procedures and adequate segregation
of duties to ensure an acceptable level
of risk.   These controls are monitored
throughout the entity and all employees

are required to maintain the highest
ethical standards in ensuring the entity’s
business is conducted in a manner that
in all reasonable circumstances is above
reproach.  The focus of risk management
in the entity is on identifying, assessing,
managing and monitoring all known forms
of risk across the entity.  While operating
risk cannot be fully eliminated, the entity
endeavours to minimise it by ensuring
that appropriate infrastructure, controls,
systems and ethical behaviour are applied
and managed within predetermined
procedures and constraints.
The members are of the opinion, based on
the information and explanations given by
management that the system of internal
control provides reasonable assurance
that the financial records may be relied on
for the preparation of the annual financial
statements. However, any system of
internal financial control can provide only
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or deficit.
The Board have reviewed the entity’s cash
flow forecast for the year to 28 February
2014 and, in the light of this review and the
current financial position, it is satisfied that
the entity has or has access to adequate
resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future.   The
annual financial statements are prepared on
the basis that the entity is a going concern
and that the Board has neither the intention
nor the need to liquidate or curtail materially
the scale of the entity.
Although the Board is primarily responsible
for the financial affairs of the entity, they are
supported by the entity’s external auditors.
The external auditors are responsible for
independently reviewing and reporting on
the entity’s annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements have been
examined by the entity’s external auditors
and their report is presented on page 4 to 5.
The annual financial statements set out
on pages 76 to 96, which have been
prepared   on the going concern   basis,
were    approved   by   the Board   on   13
June 2013 and were signed on its behalf
by:

       

Mrs. C Mabuza
(Chairperson of the Board)

       

Mr. A Mawela
(Chairperson : Finance &
HR Committee)

       

Mr. H Kagee
(Executive Manager)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MINISTER OF JUSTICE
AND CONSTITUTIONAL DEVELOPMENT ON THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF THE FIDELITY FUND FOR SHERIFFS

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Introduction
We have audited the financial statements
of the Fidelity Fund For Sheriffs set out
on pages 77 to 95, which comprise the
statement of financial position as at 28
February 2013, the statement of financial
performance, statement of changes in
net assets, the cash flow statement for
the year then ended and the statement
of comparison of budget and actual
amounts, and the notes, comprising a
summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information.

Accounting authority’s
responsibility for the
financial statements
The accounting officer is responsible for
the preparation and fair presentation of
these financial statements in accordance
with South African Standards of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice (SA
Standards of GRAP), the requirements
of the Sheriffs Act, 1986 (Act No. 90 of
1986) as amended and the Public Audit
Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004), and for
such internal controls as the Members
determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on these financial statements based on
our audit.   We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards
on Auditing. Those standards require
that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
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An audit involves performing procedures
to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements.   The procedures selected
depend on the auditor’s judgment,
including the assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to fraud or
error.  In making those risk assessments,
the auditor considers internal controls
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in
order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
controls. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by management, as well
as evaluating the overall presentation of
the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements
present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Fidelity Fund For
Sheriffs as at 28 February 2013 and its
financial performance and cash flows for
the year then ended, in accordance with
South African Statements of Generally
Recognised Accounting Practice and the
requirements of the Public Audit Act.

Emphasis of Matter
We draw attention to the matters listed
below; our opinion is not modified in
respect of these matters:

PFMA
The Fidelity Fund for the board is awaiting a
decision from National Treasury on whether
it should be subjected to requirements
of the Public Finance Management Act
(“PFMA”). The entity has therefore not
been audited against the requirements of
the PFMA, as the application is still under
consideration by National Treasury. The
entity has therefore maintained its financial
year for this reporting period as the end of
February in terms of the Sheriffs Act. The
financial statements have disclosed this
fact in note 21.

VAT on
administration fee
We draw attention to note 24 which
indicates that administration fees have
been charged by the South African
Board for Sheriffs to the Fidelity Fund for
Sheriffs without output VAT even though
the South African Board for Sheriffs is a
VAT vendor. The entity is in the process of
engaging with the South African Revenue
Service (SARS) on the correctness of
this treatment, the outcome of this and
any potential adjustment to the financial
statements is uncertain at the date of
these financial statements.
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Additional Matters
Unaudited supplementary
information
Without modifying our opinion, we draw
Without modifying our opinion, we draw
attention to the fact that supplementary
information set out on page 96 does
not form part of the annual financial
statements.

REPORT ON
OTHER LEGAL
AND REGULATORY
REQUIREMENTS
In accordance with the PAA and the
General Notice issued in terms thereof,
we report the following findings relevant
to performance against predetermined
objectives, compliance with laws and
regulations and internal control, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion.

Predetermined objectives
No
information
on
predetermined
objectives was presented for audit.

Compliance with laws and
regulations
We performed procedures to obtain
evidence that the entity has complied with
applicable laws and regulations regarding
financial matters, financial management
and other related matters. The matters
reported below are limited to the significant
deficiencies resulting in the findings on
compliance with laws and regulations:

Financial statements
The financial statements of the entity were
not submitted for audit within 3 months
after the year end (31 May 2013) as
required by the Sheriffs Act, submitted for
audit on the 05th June 2013.

INTERNAL CONTROL
We considered internal control relevant to
our audit of the financial statements and
compliance with laws and regulations. The
matters reported below are limited to the
significant deficiencies noted:

Financial reporting and
performance management
Current systems of the entity are not
entirely appropriate to facilitate preparation
of regular, accurate and complete financial
reports. However, during the last quarter
and going into the new financial year
management has put in place new controls
and processes to ensure that material
errors and omissions are detected and
corrected timeously.

Governance
Ongoing monitoring and oversight were
previously not undertaken to enable
an assessment of the effectiveness
of internal controls over financial
reporting and compliance with laws
and regulations. Management has
implemented numerous mechanisms
during the last quarter and going into the
new financial year to deal with the lack
of oversight.

       

Natalie Arendse
Director
Registered Auditor
Cape Town
19 June 2013
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BOARD MEMBERS’ REPORT
The board members submit their report for the year ended 28 February 2013.

1. Review of activities
Main business and operations
Main business and operations
The Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs (“Fund”) is engaged in and governed in terms of the Sheriff’s Act no.90 of 1986. The Fund is controlled and
managed by the South African Board for Sheriffs (“the Board”), which shall utilise the money in the Fund in accordance with the Sheriffs
Act no.90 of 1986.
The operating results and state of affairs of the entity are fully set out in the attached annual financial statements and do not in our opinion
require any further comment.

2. Going concern
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis presumes
that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities, contingent obligations
and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.

3. Events after the reporting period
The board members are not aware of any matter or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year that would materially impact
on the financial position of the entity.

4. Public Finance Management Act
The South African Board for Sheriffs (“SABFS”) is still undertaking numerous remedial steps to seek clarity on the matter of the SABFS being a
PFMA Scheduled entity.  Two opinions both from a financial and a legal aspect in respect of the applicability of the PFMA to the Board have been
obtained in the previous financial year. It has also further subsequently engaged with both National Treasury and the Department of Justice and
Constitutional Development in this regard. Treasury remains the sole agency to determine who is listed as a PFMA entity in terms of the required
legislation. We believe that resolution on this matter will be imminent as the SABFS will seek a final decision from National Treasury in this regard.  
being a PFMA Scheduled entity.  Two  opinions both from a financial and a legal aspect in respect of the applicability of the PFMA to the Board
has been obtained in the previous financial year. It has also further subsequently engaged with both National Treasury and the Department of
Justice and Constitutional Development in this regard. Treasury remains the sole agency to determine who is listed as a PFMA entity in terms of
the required legislation. We believe that resolution on this matter will be imminent as the SABFS will seek a final decision from National Treasury
in this regard.

5. Board Members
The board members for this financial year are as follows:
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NAME

CHANGES

NAME

CHANGES			

C. Mabuza (Chairperson)

Re-appointed 01 March 2012

JB Skosana

End of term: 29 Feb 2012

H.J. Choma

Re-appointed 01 March 2012

M. Tayob

End of term: 29 Feb 2012

N. Nxumalo

Re-appointed 01 March 2012

H. K. Tau

End of term: 29 Feb 2012

T.F Seboka

Re-appointed: 01 March 2012

P. Mantame

End of term: 29 Feb 2012

P. Roodt

Re-appointed 01 March 2012

B. Rose-Innes

End of term: 29 Feb 2012

L. Best

Appointed: 01 March 2012						

A. Mawela

Appointed: 01 March 2012						

F. Moeletsi

Appointed: 01 March 2012						

H. Ntsikeni

Appointed: 01 March 2012						

H. Mohamed

Appointed: 01 March 2012						

T.Thembe

Appointed: 01 March 2012						
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2013
Figures in Rand

Note(s)

2013

2012

Assets

Current Assets
Investments

5

1,810,259

10,901,327

Trade and other receivables

7

630,334

599,088

Cash and cash equivalents

8

49,669,087

81,455,820

52,109,680

92,956,235

Non-Current Assets
Asset Held for sale - Property

4

3,475,129

3,551,646

Investments held to maturity

8

55,613,476

-

59,088,605

96,507,881

Total Assets
Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Trade and other payables

10

8,233,554

5,158,445

Loan from related party

9

4,644,374

419,926

Provisions

12

6,056,558

3,845,458

Total Liabilities

18,934,486

9,423,829

Net Assets

92,263,799

87,084,052

Accumulated Surplus

92,263,799

87,084,052

Total Net Assets

92,263,799

87,084,052

Net Assets
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2013
Figures in Rand
Revenue

Note(s)
12

Operating expenses
Operating surplus
Investment revenue
Fair value adjustments
Surplus for the year
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13

2013

2012

13,192,159

17,041,942

(14,050,584)

(15,743,238)

(858,425)

1,298,704

5,277,661

4,870,089

760,511

141,791

5,179,747

6,310,584

Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 28 February 2013

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS FOR THE YEAR
ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2013
Figures in Rand				
Balance at 01 March 2011

Accumulated surplus

Total net assets

80,773,468

80,773,468

6,310,584

6,310,584

87,084,052

87,084,052

5,179,747

5,179,747

92,263,799

92,263,799

Changes in net assets
Surplus for the year

Balance at 01 March 2012

Changes in net assets
Surplus for the year

Balance at 28 February 2013
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED
28 FEBRUARY 2013
Figures in Rand

Note(s)

2013

2012

28,630,632

17,231,956

(24,157,576)

(9,825,025)

4,473,056

7,406,931

5,277,661

4,870,089

(55,613,476)

-

9,851,579

(770,518)

Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts
Receipts from sheriffs and SABFS
Less cash payments to suppliers and SABFS
Net cash from operating activities

16

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest income
Movement in Investment held to maturity
Movement in financial assets

4,224,447

(354,037)

Net cash flows from investing activities

(36,259,789)

3,745,534

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

(31,786,733)

11,152,465

81,455,820

70,303,355

49,669,087

81,455,820

Proceeds from loan from related party

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
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STATEMENT OF COMPARISON OF BUDGET AND ACTUAL
AMOUNTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2013

Figures in Rand

Difference
between
budget and
actual

Actual
amounts on
comparable
basis

Approved
budget

Note

Revenue
Sales of goods

600,000

501,050

(98,950)

22

193,261

193,261

-

22

Interest received

16,430,244

12,497,848

(3,932,396)

22

Interest received

4,722,958

5,277,661

554,703

22

110,746

760,511

649,765

22

22,057,209

19,230,331

(2,826,878)

22

8,038,286

9,010,371

(972,085)

22

44,500

-

44,500

22

510

1,706

(1,196)

22

23,395

-

23,395

22

5,000,000

3,353,627

1,646,373

22

Consulting fees

-

315,263

(315,263)

22

Depreciation

-

76,517

(76,517)

22

Insurance

767,409

782,152

(14,743)

22

Legal fees

750,000

359,294

390,706

22

Levies

93,436

95,068

(1,632)

22

Utilities

69,106

56,586

12,520

22

14,786,642

14,050,584

736,058

22

7,270,567

5,179,747

2,090,820

22

Rental income

Fair value adjustments
Total revenue
Operating Expenses
Administration fees
Audit fees
Bank Charges
Building maintenance
Claims against the Fidelity Fund

Total expenses
Net Surplus

Annual Report 2012-2013

81

Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs Annual Financial Statements for the year ended 28 February 2013

ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued

1. Presentation of
Annual Financial
Statements
The annual financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the effective
Standards of Generally Recognised
Accounting Practice (GRAP) including any
interpretations, guidelines and directives
issued by the Accounting Standards
Board.
These annual financial statements have
been prepared on an accrual basis of
accounting and are in accordance with
historical cost convention unless specified
otherwise. They are presented in South
African Rand.
A summary of the significant accounting
policies, which have been consistently
applied, are disclosed below.
These accounting policies are consistent
with the previous period, except for the
changes set out in note 2.

1.1 SIGNIFICANT
JUDGEMENTS AND
SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY
In preparing the annual financial
statements, management is required to
make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts represented in the
annual financial statements and related
disclosures. Use of available information
and the application of judgement is
inherent in the formation of estimates.
Actual results in the future could differ from
these estimates which may be material to
the annual financial statements. Significant
judgements include:

Trade receivables
The entity assesses its trade receivables
for impairment at the end of each
reporting period. In determining whether
an impairment loss should be recorded
in surplus or deficit, the entity makes
judgements as to whether there is
observable data indicating a measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash
flows from a financial asset.
The impairment for trade receivables is
calculated on a portfolio basis, based
on historical loss ratios, adjusted for
national and industry specific economic
conditions and other indicators present
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at the reporting date that correlate with
defaults on the portfolio. These annual
loss ratios are applied to loan balances in
the portfolio and scaled to the estimated
loss emergence period.

Fair value estimation
The carrying value less impairment
provision of trade receivables and
payables are assumed to approximate
their fair values.  

Provisions
Provisions were raised and management
determined an estimate based on the
information available. Additional disclosure
of these estimates of provisions are
included in note 12.

Effective interest rate
The entity used the prime interest rate to
discount future cash flows.

Allowance for doubtful debts
On debtors an impairment loss is
recognised in surplus and deficit when
there is objective evidence that it is
impaired. The impairment is measured
as the difference between the debtors
carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted
at the effective interest rate, computed at
initial recognition.

1.2 PROPERTY, PLANT
AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are
tangible non current assets that are held
for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, rental to others, or for
administrative purposes, and are expected
to be used during more than one period.
The cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment is recognised as an asset when:
• it is probable that future economic
benefits or service potential
associated with the item will flow to
the entity; and
• the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.
Property, plant and equipment is initially
measured at cost.
The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the purchase price and

other costs attributable to bring the asset
to the location and condition necessary
for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management. Trade
discounts and rebates are deducted in
arriving at the cost.
Where an asset is acquired at no cost, or
for a nominal cost, its cost is its fair value
as at date of acquisition.
Costs include costs incurred initially
to acquire an item of property, plant
and equipment and costs incurred
subsequently to add to, replace part
of, or service it. If a replacement cost is
recognised in the carrying amount of an
item of property, plant and equipment, the
carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised.
Recognition of costs in the carrying
amount of an item of property, plant and
equipment ceases when the item is in the
location and condition necessary for it to
be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management.
Property, plant and equipment is carried
at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses.
The useful lives of items of property, plant
and equipment have been assessed as
follows:
Item
Buildings

Average useful life
50 years

The residual value, the useful life and
depreciation method of each asset are
reviewed at the end of each reporting date.
If the expectations differ from previous
estimates, the change is accounted for as
a change in accounting estimate.
Each part of an item of property, plant and
equipment with a cost that is significant
in relation to the total cost of the item is
depreciated separately.
The depreciation charge for each period is
recognised in surplus or deficit unless it is
included in the carrying amount of another
asset.
Items of property, plant and equipment are
derecognised when the asset is disposed
of or when there are no further economic
benefits or service potential expected from
the use of the asset.
The gain or loss arising from the
derecognition of an item of property, plant
and equipment is included in surplus or
deficit when the item is derecognised.
The gain or loss arising from the
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
derecognition of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the net disposal
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount
of the item.

1.3 FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
Classification
The entity classifies financial assets
and financial liabilities into the following
categories:
• Loans and receivables;
• Held to maturity.

Initial recognition and
measurement
Financial instruments are recognised initially
when the entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instruments.
The entity classifies financial instruments, or
their component parts, on initial recognition
as a financial asset, a financial liability or an
equity instrument in accordance with the
substance of the contractual arrangement.
Financial instruments are measured initially
at fair value, except for equity investments
for which a fair value is not determinable,
which are measured at cost and are
classified as available for sale financial
assets.
For financial instruments which are not
at fair value through surplus or deficit,
transaction costs are included in the initial
measurement of the instrument.

Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method, less accumulated
impairment losses.
Financial liabilities at amortised cost are
subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method.

Impairment of financial assets
At each end of the reporting period the
entity assesses all financial assets, other
than those at fair value through surplus
or deficit, to determine whether there is
objective evidence that a financial asset or
group of financial assets has been impaired.

For amounts due to the entity, significant
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability
that the debtor will enter bankruptcy and
default of payments are all considered
indicators of impairment.
Where financial assets are impaired
through use of an allowance account, the
amount of the loss is recognised in surplus
or deficit within operating expenses. When
such assets are written off, the write off
is made against the relevant allowance
account. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against operating expenses.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are measured at
initial recognition at fair value, and are
subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest rate method.
    Appropriate allowances for estimated
irrecoverable amounts are recognised in
surplus or deficit when there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired.
Significant financial difficulties of the
debtor, probability that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and
default or delinquency in payments (more
than 30 days overdue) are considered
indicators that the trade receivable is
impaired.
The allowance recognised is measured
as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows discounted
at the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition.
The carrying amount of the asset is
reduced through the use of an allowance
account, and the amount of the deficit
is recognised in surplus or deficit within
operating expenses. When a trade
receivable is uncollectible, it is written off
against the allowance account for trade
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against operating expenses in surplus or
deficit.
Trade and other receivables are classified
as loans and receivables.

Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair
value, and are subsequently measured at

amortised cost, using the effective interest
rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash
on hand and demand deposits and other
short term highly liquid investments that
are readily convertible to a known amount
of cash and are subject to an insignificant
risk of changes in value. These are initially
and subsequently recorded at fair value.

1.4 PROVISIONS AND
CONTINGENCIES
Provisions are recognised when:
• the entity has a present obligation as
a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of
resources embodying economic
benefits or service potential will be
required to settle the obligation;
and
• a reliable estimate can be made of
the obligation.
The amount of a provision is the best
estimate of the expenditure expected to
be required to settle the present obligation
at the reporting date.
Where some or all of the expenditure
required to settle a provision is expected
to be reimbursed by another party, the
reimbursement is recognised when,
and only when, it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received if the entity
settles the obligation. The reimbursement
is treated as a separate asset. The amount
recognised for the reimbursement does
not exceed the amount of the provision.
Provisions are not recognised for future
operating deficits.
Contingent assets and contingent liabilities
are not recognised. Contingencies are
disclosed in note 22.

1.5 REVENUE
FROM EXCHANGE
TRANSACTIONS
Revenue is the gross inflow of economic
benefits or service potential during the
reporting period when those inflows result in
an increase in net assets, other than increases
relating to contributions from owners.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
An exchange transaction is one in which
the entity receives assets or services, or
has liabilities extinguished, and directly
gives approximately equal value (primarily
in the form of goods, services or use of
assets) to the other party in exchange.
Fair value is the amount for which an asset
could be exchanged, or a liability settled,
between knowledgeable, willing parties in
an arm’s length transaction.  An exchange
transaction will be recognised as and
when the Fund receives a declaration from
the sheriffs.  

Measurement
Revenue is measured at the fair value of
the consideration received or receivable,
net of trade discounts and volume rebates.

Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is
recognised when all the following
conditions have been satisfied:
• the entity has transferred to the
purchaser the significant risks and
rewards of ownership of the goods;
• the entity retains neither continuing
managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership
nor effective control over the goods
sold;
• the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic
benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will
flow to the entity; and
• the costs incurred or to be incurred
in respect of the transaction can be
measured reliably.

associated with the transaction will
flow to the entity;
• the stage of completion of the
transaction at the reporting date can
be measured reliably; and
• the costs incurred for the transaction
and the costs to complete the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Interest
Revenue arising from the use by others of
entity assets yielding interest, royalties and
dividends is recognised when:
• It is probable that the economic
benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will
flow to the entity, and
• The amount of the revenue can be
measured reliably.
Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit,
using the effective interest rate method.  
Interest as revenue will be recognised
when a declaration is received from a
sheriff along with an auditor’s report.
Investment income will be recognised as
and when the Fund becomes entitled to
the income.
Fidelity fund applications will be recognised
when the certificate is issued.

1.6 REVENUE FROM
NON-EXCHANGE
TRANSACTIONS
Revenue comprises gross inflows of
economic benefits or service potential
received and receivable by an entity, which
represents an increase in net assets, other
than increases relating to contributions
from owners.

Rendering of services
When the outcome of a transaction
involving the rendering of services can
be estimated reliably, revenue associated
with the transaction is recognised by
reference to the stage of completion of
the transaction at the reporting date.
The outcome of a transaction can be
estimated reliably when all the following
conditions are satisfied:
• the amount of revenue can be
measured reliably;
• it is probable that the economic
benefits or service potential
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Conditions on transferred assets are
stipulations that specify that the future
economic benefits or service potential
embodied in the asset is required to be
consumed by the recipient as specified
or future economic benefits or service
potential must be returned to the
transferor.
Control of an asset arises when the entity
can use or otherwise benefit from the
asset in pursuit of its objectives and can
exclude or otherwise regulate the access
of others to that benefit.

Non-exchange transactions are transactions that are not exchange transactions.
In a non-exchange transaction, an entity
either receives value from another entity
without directly giving approximately
equal value in exchange, or gives value to
another entity without directly receiving
approximately equal value in exchange.
Restrictions on transferred assets are
stipulations that limit or direct the purposes
for which a transferred asset may be used,
but do not specify that future economic
benefits or service potential is required
to be returned to the transferor if not
deployed as specified.
Stipulations on transferred assets are
terms in laws or regulations, or a binding
arrangement, imposed upon the use of a
transferred asset by entities external to the
reporting entity.

Recognition
An inflow of resources from a nonexchange transaction recognised as an
asset is recognised as revenue, except to
the extent that a liability is also recognised
in respect of the same inflow.
As the entity satisfies a present obligation
recognised as a liability in respect of an
inflow of resources from a non-exchange
transaction recognised as an asset, it
reduces the carrying amount of the liability
recognised and recognises an amount of
revenue equal to that reduction.

Measurement
Revenue from a non-exchange transaction
is measured at the amount of the increase
in net assets recognised by the entity.
When, as a result of a non-exchange
transaction, the entity recognises an asset,
it also recognises revenue equivalent to
the amount of the asset measured at its
fair value as at the date of acquisition,
unless it is also required to recognise a
liability. Where a liability is required to be
recognised it will be measured as the best
estimate of the amount required to settle
the obligation at the reporting date, and
the amount of the increase in net assets,
if any, recognised as revenue. When a
liability is subsequently reduced, because
the taxable event occurs or a condition is
satisfied, the amount of the reduction in
the liability is recognised as revenue.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
1.7 COMPARATIVE
FIGURES
Where necessary, comparative figures
have been reclassified to conform to
changes in presentation in the current
year.

1.8 BUDGET INFORMATION
The entity is typically subject to budgetary
limits in the form of appropriations or
budget authorisations (or equivalent),
which is given effect through authorising
legislation, appropriation or similar.
General purpose financial reporting by
entity shall provide information on whether
resources were obtained and used in
accordance with the legally adopted
budget.
The annual financial statements and
the budget are on the same basis of
accounting.   A reconciliation between
the statement of financial performance
and the budget have been included in
the annual financial statements. Refer to
note 23.

2. Changes in
accounting policy
The annual financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with Standards
of Generally Recognised Accounting
Practice on a basis consistent with the
prior year, except where new statements
become effective.

3. New standards and
interpretations
3.1 STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS
EFFECTIVE AND ADOPTED
IN THE CURRENT YEAR
In the current year, the following standards
and interpretations  were effective.

GRAP 104: Financial
Instruments
The standard prescribes recognition,
measurement,
presentation
and
disclosure requirements for financial
instruments. Financial instruments are
defined as those contracts that result in a

financial asset in one entity and a financial
liability or residual interest in another
entity. A key distinguishing factor between
financial assets and financial liabilities and
other assets and liabilities, is that they are
settled in cash or by exchanging financial
instruments rather than through the
provision of goods or services.
One of the key considerations in initially
recognising financial instruments is
the distinction, by the issuers of those
instruments, between financial assets,
financial liabilities and residual interests.
Financial assets and financial liabilities
are distinguished from residual interests
because they involve a contractual right
or obligation to receive or pay cash or
another financial instrument. Residual
interests entitle an entity to a portion of
another entity’s net assets in the event
of liquidation and, to dividends or similar
distributions paid at management’s
discretion.
In determining whether a financial
instrument is a financial asset, financial
liability or a residual interest, an entity
considers the substance of the contract
and not just the legal form.
Where a single instrument contains both a
liability and a residual interest component,
the issuer allocates the instrument into its
component parts. The issuer recognises
the liability component at its fair value and
recognises the residual interest as the
difference between the carrying amount
of the instrument and the fair value of
the liability component. No gain or loss is
recognised by separating the instrument
into its component parts.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are
initially recognised at fair value. Where an
entity subsequently measures financial
assets and financial liabilities at amortised
cost or cost, transactions’ costs are
included in the cost of the asset or liability.
The transaction price usually equals the
fair value at initial recognition, except in
certain circumstances, for example, where
interest free credit is granted or where
credit is granted at a below market rate
of interest.  Concessionary loans are loans
either received by or granted to another
entity on concessionary terms, e.g. at
low interest rates and flexible repayment
terms. On initial recognition, the fair value

of a concessionary loan is the present
value of the agreed contractual cash
flows, discounted using a market related
rate of interest for a similar transaction.
The difference between the proceeds
either received or paid and the present
value of the contractual cash flows is
accounted for as non exchange revenue
by the recipient of a concessionary loan
in accordance with Standard of GRAP on
Revenue from Non-exchange Revenue
Transactions (Taxes and Transfers), and
using the Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements
(usually as an expense) by the grantor of
the loan.
Financial assets and financial liabilities
are subsequently measured either at fair
value or, amortised cost or cost. An entity
measures a financial instrument at fair
value if it is:
• a derivative;
• a combined instrument designated
at fair value, i.e. an instrument
that includes a derivative and a non
derivative host contract;
• held for trading;
• a non derivative instrument with
fixed or determinable payments that
is designated at initial recognition to
be measured at fair value;
• an investment in a residual interest
for which fair value can be measured
reliably; and
• other instruments that do not meet
the definition of financial instruments
at amortised cost or cost.
Derivatives are measured at fair value.
Combined instruments that include a
derivative and non derivative host contract
are accounted for as follows:
• Where an embedded derivative is
included in a host contract which is
a financial instrument within the
scope of this Standard, an entity
can designate the entire contract
to be measured at fair value or, it
can account for the host contract
and embedded derivative
separately using GRAP 104. An
entity is however required to measure
the entire instrument at fair value if
the fair value of the derivative cannot
be measured reliably.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES continued
• Where the host contract is not a
financial instrument within the scope
of this Standard, the host
contractand embedded derivative
are accounted for separately using
GRAP 104 and the relevant
Standard of GRAP. Financial assets
and financial liabilities that are non
derivative instruments with fixed or
determinable payments, for example
deposits with banks, receivables and
payables, are measured at amortised
cost. At initial recognition, an entity
can however designate such an
instrument to be measured at fair
value.

GRAP 104 does not prescribe principles
for hedge accounting. An entity is
permitted to apply hedge accounting, as
long as the principles in IAS 39 are applied.

An entity can only measure investments
in residual interests at cost where the fair
value of the interest cannot be determined
reliably.

It is unlikely that the amendment will have
a material impact on the entity’s annual
financial statements.

Once an entity has classified a financial
asset or a financial liability either at fair
value or amortised cost or cost, it is only
allowed to reclassify such instruments in
limited instances.

3.2 STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED, BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE

An entity derecognises a financial asset, or
the specifically identified cash flows of an
asset, when:
• the cash flows from the asset expire,
are settled or waived;
• significant risks and rewards are
transferred to another party; or
• despite having retained significant
risks and rewards, an entity has
transferred control of the asset to
another entity.
An entity derecognises a financial liability
when the obligation is extinguished.
Exchanges of debt instruments between
a borrower and a lender are treated as the
extinguishment of an existing liability and
the recognition of a new financial liability.
Where an entity modifies the term of an
existing financial liability, it is also treated
as the extinguishment of an existing liability
and the recognition of a new liability.
An entity cannot offset financial assets
and financial liabilities in the statement of
financial position unless a legal right of set
off exists, and the parties intend to settle
on a net basis.
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GRAP 104 requires extensive disclosures
on the significance of financial instruments
for an entity’s statement of financial position
and statement of financial performance, as
well as the nature and extent of the risks
that an entity is exposed to as a result
of its annual financial statements. Some
disclosures, for example the disclosure
of fair values for instruments measured at
amortised cost or cost and the preparation
of a sensitivity analysis, are encouraged
rather than required.
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The entity has not applied the following
standards and interpretations, which have
been published and are mandatory for the
entity’s accounting periods beginning on
or after 01 April 2013 or later periods:

GRAP 18 Segment Reporting
This
Standard
requires
additional
disclosures on the various segments of the
business in a manner that is consistent with
the information reported internally to the
management of this entity. This standard
does not yet have an effective date.

GRAP 20: Related parties
The objective of this Standard is to ensure
that a reporting entity’s financial statements
contain the disclosures necessary to
draw attention to the possibility that its
financial position and surplus or deficit
may have been affected by the existence
of related parties and by transactions and
outstanding balances with such parties.
An entity that prepares and presents
financial statements under the accrual
basis of accounting (in this standard
referred to as the reporting entity) shall
apply this standard in:

• identifying related party relationships
and transactions;
• identifying outstanding balances,
including commitments, between an
entity and its related parties;
• identifying the circumstances in
which disclosure of the items in (a)
and (b) is required; and
• determining the disclosures to be
made about those items.
This Standard requires disclosure of
related party relationships, transactions
and outstanding balances, including
commitments, in the consolidated and
separate financial statements of the
reporting entity in accordance with the
Standard of GRAP on Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements. This
standard also applies to individual financial
statements.
Disclosure of related party transactions,
outstanding
balances,
including
commitments, and relationships with related
parties may affect users’ assessments of
the financial position and performance of
the reporting entity and its ability to deliver
agreed services, including assessments
of the risks and opportunities facing the
entity. This disclosure also ensures that
the reporting entity is transparent about its
dealings with related parties.
The Standard states that a related party
is a person or an entity with the ability to
control or jointly control the other party,
or exercise significant influence over the
other party, or vice versa, or an entity that
is subject to common control, or joint
control. As a minimum, the following are
regarded as related parties of the reporting
entity:
• A person or a close member of
that person’s family is related to the
reporting entity if that person:
• has control or joint control over the
reporting entity;
• has significant influence over the
reporting entity;
• is a member of the management of
the entity or its controlling entity.
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An entity is related to the reporting entity if
any of the following conditions apply:
• the entity is a member of the same
economic entity (which means that
each controlling entity, controlled
entity and fellow controlled entity is
related to the others);
• one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a
member of an economic entity  of
which the other entity is a member);
• both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party;
• one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity;
• the entity is a post-employment
benefit plan for the benefit of
employees of either the entity or
an entity related to the entity. If the
reporting entity is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are related
to the entity;
• the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled    by a person identified in
(a); and
• a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over that entity
or is a member of the management
of that entity (or its controlling entity).
The Standard furthermore states that   a
related party transaction is a transfer of
resources, services or obligations between
the reporting entity and a related party,
regardless of whether a price is charged.
The Standard elaborates on the definitions
and identification of:

The effective date of the standard is for
years beginning on or after 01 April 2013.
An entity shall apply Standards of GRAP
for annual financial statements covering
periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined by the Minister of Finance in a
regulation to be published in accordance
with section 91(l)(b) of the PFMA
GRAP 105 Transfer of functions between
entities under common control.
The objective of this Standard is to
establish accounting principles for the
acquirer and transferor in a transfer of
functions between entities under common
control. No significant impact is expected
as the entity does not participate in such
business transactions.
GRAP 106 Transfer of functions between
entities not under common control.
The objective of this Standard is to establish
accounting principles for the acquirer and
transferor of functions between entities
not under common control. No significant
impact is expected as the entity does not
participate in such business transactions.

GRAP 107 Mergers
The objective of this Standard is to
establish accounting principles for the
combined entity and applied.

• Close member of the family of
a person,• Management;
• Related parties;
• Remuneration; and
• Significant influence.
The Standard sets out the requirements,
inter alia, for the disclosure of:
• Control;
• Related party transactions; and
• Remuneration of management.
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4. Asset held for sale- Property
2013

Building

2012

Cost

Accumulated
Depreciation

Carrying
value

Accumulated
Depreciation

Carrying
value

3,825,831

(350,702)

3,475,129

(274,185)

3,551,646

Opening
balance

Additions

Depreciation

Closing
Balance

3,551,646

-

(76,517)

3,475,129

Reconciliation of property – 2013

Building

Reconciliation of property - 2012

Buidling

3,628,163

Opening
balance

Depreciation

Closing
Balance

-

(76,517)

3,551,646

Details of property
The property is situated at 4 Church Square 5th Floor, Corner Spin and Parliament streets, Cape Town.

Figures in Rand

2013

2012

The property is sectional title and the 5th floor is owned.
Purchase price:
Additions

2,900,000

2,900,000

925,831

925,831

3,825,831

3,825,831

The Board has entered into a contract to acquire a new building and a decision was taken on the 25 April 2013 to sell the
current building as soon as possible at a market related price which was not available at the time of signing the annual
financial statements.
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

1,251,176

890,095

-

9,502,220

1,251,176

10,392,315

559,083

509,012

1,810,259

10,901,327

630,334

599,088

Investments held to maturity

55,613,476

-

Cash and cash equivalents

49,669,087

81,455,820

105,912,897

82,054,908

630,334

599,088

630,334

599,088

5. Investments
At fair value
Sanlam
The investment comprises a portfolio of listed shares
Investec asset management
The investment comprise of unit trusts. The fair values of listed
investments are based on the quoted market price. Fair values are
determined annually at reporting date.

At amortised cost
Liberty Life
The insurance policies relate to life policies taken out by the
entity on former board members.The insurance policies have been
measured at fair value

6. Financial assets by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been
applied to the line items below:
Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables

7. Trade and other receivables
Accrued income
The ageing of trade and other receivables at the reporting date
The ageing of accounts receivables are as follows:
90 days plus

8. Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Bank balances

49,669,087

81,455,820

55,613,476

-

Investments held to maturity		
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

4,644,374

419,926

Accrued expenses

1,718,126

1,402,862

Income received in advance

1,419,298

159,945

1,158

-

5,094,972

3,595,638

8,233,554

5,158,445

9. Loan from related party
South African Board for Sheriffs – owed amount
The loan is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

10. Trade and other payables

Sundry Creditors
Trust liabilities

11. Financial liabilities by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to the line items below:
Financial liabilities by category
3,138,582

1,562,807

6,056,558

3,845,458

Rental received

193,261

175,692

Fidelity fund certificates

501,050

436,006

12,497,848

16,430,244

13,192,159

17,041,942

Trade and other payables

12. Provisions
Provision for uninsured claims

13. Revenue

Interest received from Trust Accounts

The amounts included in revenue arising from rendering of services are as follows:

Rental received

193,261

Fidelity fund certificates

501,050
694,311

175,692
436,006
611,698

The amounts included in revenue arising from non-exchange transactions are as follows:
Interest Received
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12,497,847

16,430,244
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

76,517

76,517

760,511

141,791

14. Operating surplus
Operating surplus for the year is stated after accounting for the following:

Depreciation on Assets held for sale -property
Fair value adjustments

15. Taxation
No provision has been made for 2012 taxation as the receipts and accruals to the entity are exempt from income tax in
terms of section 10(1)cA)(i) of the Income Tax Act.

16. Cash generated from operations
5,179,747

6,310,584

76,517

76,517

(760,511)

(141,791)

(5,277,661)

(4,870,089)

(31,246)

(599,088)

Provisions

2,211,100

-

Trade and other payables

3,075,109

6,630,799

4,473,055

7,406,931

Surplus before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation
Fair value adjustments
Interest received
Changes in working capital:
Trade and other receivables
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

17. Related parties
Relationships
Common Board members

South African Board for Sheriffs

The Sheriffs’ Board was established under the Sheriffs’ act and the Fidelity fund is managed by the Board on behalf of
the Minister of Justice. The Board enters into various transactions, at arm’s length with the Fidelity Fund. The Board
and the Fund had common Board members for the year.
Related party balances
Loan account – Owing to related party
South African Board for Sheriffs

4,644,374

419,926

193,261

175,692

Related party transactions
Rent paid by related party
South African Board for Sheriffs

The lease agreement was entered into based on market related rentals with an escalation clause of 10% per year.
Administration fees charged by related party
9,010,371

South African Board for Sheriffs

8,205,881

The Administrative fee is based on an agreement signed between the Board and the Fidelity fund

18. Prior period errors and reclassifications
First time adoption of GRAP
-The first time adoption of GRAP resulted in the restatement of certain balance in the prior year.
-Reclassification of other financial assets as cash and cash equivalents
-VAT on administrations fees was raised for the prior year which resulted in the restatement of
certain balances.
The correction of error(s) results in adjustments as follows:
Statement of financial position
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Increase in Loan to related party

-

833,423

Decrease in other financial assets

-

(2,118,520)

Increase in Cash and cash equivalents

-

2,118,520

Increase in Trade and other payables

-

38,586

-

(872,009)
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

-

(872,009)

-

(872,009)

Decrease in revenue

-

(38,586)

Increase in investment revenue

-

115,814

Decrease in fair value adjustments

-

(115,814)

Increase in operating expenses

-

833,423

-

872,009

Statement of changes in net assets
Decrease in Accumulated surplus
Statement of financial performance

19. Risk management
Financial risk management
The entity’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: liquidity risk, interest rate risk and credit risk.

Liquidity risk
The entity’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The entity manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments and credit facilities.
Cash is managed prudently by keeping sufficient cash in bank accounts.  Cash is received from Sheriffs and the Fidelity fund.  

Interest rate risk
The Board has interest-bearing assets and the income and operating cash flows are substantially dependent on the changes in the market
interest rates.  The interest-bearing assets consist of short term investments with floating interest rate that expose the Board to cash flow
interest rate risks.  The interest rate used is based on the Prime rate.

Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents  and trade debtors. The entity only deposits cash with major banks with high
quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter party.
Trade receivables comprise a widespread customer base. Management evaluated credit risk relating to customers on an on-going basis.
If customers are independently rated, these ratings are used. Otherwise, if there is no independent rating, risk control assesses the credit
quality of the customer, taking into account its financial position, past experience and other factors. Individual risk limits are set based on
internal or external ratings in accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored.
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

20. Events after the reporting date
The Board is not aware of any matters or circumstances arising since the end of the financial year which significantly affect the
financial position of the Board or the result of operations.  The Board have made a decision to buy a new building and to put the
old building on the market in the foreseeable future.

21. Public Finance Management Act
The Fidelity Fund for Sheriffs has applied to the National Treasury for listing in the Public Finance Management Act (“PFMA”)
schedules as required by S47(2) of the PFMA. The entity has therefore not been audited against the requirements of the PFMA, as
the application is still under consideration by National Treasury. The entity has therefore maintained its financial year for this reporting
period as the end of February in terms of the Sheriffs Act.

22. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget
The Fund has elected to use the exemption under Directive 5 by the ASB to disclose this reconciliation between budget and actual.  
Reconciliation of budget surplus/deficit with the surplus/deficit in the statement of financial performance is as follows:
Revenue
The under recovery of revenue by R2,826,878 representing 12.82% is attributed to the following:

Sale of goods
The under recovery of this line item of 16.49% is directly related to the number of sheriff and deputy appointments for the year under
review.  Newly appointed sheriffs only appointed their deputies in the new financial year.

Interest received on trust accounts
The under recovery of 23.93% of this line item is directly linked to the current rate of interest.  Interest rates are at an all-time low
and this affected the earning of interest by the sheriffs.

Interest receive on investments
The over recovery of 11.74% on this line item is a direct result of the new investment strategy implemented by the Board during
the financial year.

Fair value adjustments
The over recovery of 586.72% on this line item is also due to the investment strategy implemented by the board during the financial
year.  These adjustments are also due to the increase in value of the shares in Sanlam.

Operating expenses
Total expenses is under budget by R736,059 representing a 4.98% under recovery which is attributed to the following:

Administrative fees
The over recovery of 12.09% on this line item is due to the manner in which VAT was accounted for.   VAT was raised on the
amounts paid and not claimed as an input VAT.  The effect of the VAT charged meant that the Fund had an over recovery of the
admin expense.

Audit fees
All audit fees was recovered by the SABFS.

Building maintenance
All building expenditure was covered by SABFS.
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Figures in Rand

2013

2012

23. Explanation of variances between Actual and budget(continue)
Claims against the Fidelity Fund
The under recovery of claims of 32.93% is directly related to claims not yet finalise and which are still under investigation by the Fund.
Consulting fees
The over recovery  of this line item is due to a decision taken by the Board to investigate the possibility of a Pension fund and a
medical aid for sheriffs.  This also includes the preparation of a Term of reference for the appointment of a new service provider for
insurance purposes for the Fund.
Depreciation
The depreciation was not budgeted for. Future budgets will be prepared on an accrual basis which will ensure that non-cash items
are included in the budget.
Insurance
The over recovery of 1.92% in this line item is due to the increase number of sheriffs and the increase in insurance premiums.
Legal fees
The under recovery of 52.09% in legal fees is due to the SABFS also carried part of the legal expenses.  
Levies
The over recovery of 1.75% on this line item is due to the annual increase in July,  not be known to the Fund at the time of setting
its budgets.
Utilities
This under recovery of 18.12% was achieved due to the fact that the SABFS carried part of the expense to maintain the building.

24. Contingencies 					
Value Added Taxation(VAT)					
The admin fees charged by the South African Board for Sheriffs (SABFS), a VAT vendor,  to the Fidelity Fund has up until now been
charged without VAT. The entity is in the process of engaging with the South African Revenue Service (SARS) on the correctness
of this treatment, the outcome of this and any potential adjustment to the financial statements is uncertain at the date of these
financial statements. Provision has been made for the VAT on the Administrative fee for prior years.  Penalties were raised at the
applicable rate on these amounts.  We are uncertain as to the number of years SARS will apply the correction to the VAT.  Interest
on the amounts was also not raised due to the abovementioned uncertainty.  The effect of the adjustments will be material if SARS
decides to extend the period beyond the period already provided for. During the current year under review, the SABFS charge the
Fidelity fund the output VAT on the admin fees.  The amount for the first quarter was declared to SARS, however, the second period
will only be declared in the next VAT period.  The VAT on the admin fees for the last half of the financial year will be declared in the
next period also as this invoice was raised after the year end.
Litigation						
As at 28 February 2013, claims amounting to R766,710 (2012: R652,114) are under litigation against the Fidelity Fund, in respect
of certain sheriffs, with a possible loss amounting to R482,778 (2012: R327,276) the outcome of which was uncertain at the date of
issuing these financial statements.  Should the action be successful the Fidelity Fund does have insurance cover to cover litigation
costs and claims for an amount of R3 million.
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DETAILED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 29 FEBRUARY 2012
Figures in Rand

2013

2012

Sales of goods

501,050

436,006

Rental income

193,261

175,692

Interest received

12,497,848

16,430,244

Operating income

13,192,159

17,041,942

Revenue

Other income
Interest received

5,277,661
4,870,089

Fair value adjustments

Total Revenue

760,511

141,791

6,038,172

5,011,880

19,230,331

22,053,822

9,010,371

8,205,881

1,706

266

3,353,627

6,193,875

315,263

-

Operating expenses
Administration fees
Bank Charges
Claims against the Fidelity Fund
Consulting fees

76,517

76,517

Insurance

782,152

518,830

Legal fees

359,294

599,135

Levies

95,068

90,613

Utilities

56,586

58,121

14,050,584

15,743,238

5,179,747

6,310,584

Depreciation

Surplus for the year
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The Executive Manager
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P.O. Box 5454
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Physical Address
The Executive Manager
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